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Complaint 79 F.T.C. 

I~ THE ]\IATT:ER O"F 

STA:KDAHD EDUCATORS, INC., ET AL. 

OlU>ER, OPINIOX, ETC., IX HEGA!W TO THE ALLEGED VIOL.\TION OF TILE 

.FEOER.\L THAI)]~ COl\fl\HRSION ACT 

Docket 8807. Complaint, Dec. ~JO, J!)·(i9-Dcc-i,<;ion, Dec. 6, 1.971 

(.h-der requiring door-to-door seller of euc.vtlopedb1s of East Hartford, Conn., to 
cease misrepresenting to prnspective rmrchasers that they ,vere engaged in 
:a national advert.ising carn1n.1ign and offering a set of the New Standard 
I~ncyclopedia "free" or at a spE:'cial vriee to speei:ally selt•cted penmns who 
would endorse their prodncts, and misreprei-:enting that certain books in a 
combination offer WNe free and the offer was limited to the time of the call. 

Col\II>LAINT 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 
and by virtue of tho authority vested in it by said Act, the Fech--'rnl 
Trade Commission, lrnvingr-eason to believe that Stanclnrd Educators, 
Inc., a corporation, and .fames A. 1\.felley, Sr., individually and as an 

rm..'fi.cer o-f said corporation, herc>inafter referred to as rPspondents, have 
-vio'fa.tcd the provisions of said Act, and it appearing to the Commission 
JJmt a proceeding by it in respeet thereof would he in the public 
Interest, hereby isstws its complaint stating its charges in that respect 
.as follows : 

PARAGRAPH 1. Respondent Standard Eclncafors, Inc. is a corporation 
organized, e.xisting and doing business under and by virtue of the ]a;ws 
of the state of Co1mecticnL with its principal office and place of 
business located at 100 Prestige Park Roa.d, in the city of East Hart­
~ford, State of Connecticut. 

Respondent ~fames A. l\klley, ST"., is an iHdividual and an cffo:er of 
the corporate rcspondPnt. He fornrnlatesi directs and controls the n.ets 
and practices o:f the corporate respondent, inelnding the acts and 
practices hereinafter set forth. His bnsi11ess address is the sanw as 
that of the corporate respondent. 

PAR. 2. Respondents ar-e now, and for some time last past have been, 
•engaged in the advertising offering for sale, sale n.nd distribution of 
various books, ine1ncling an encyclopedia nanw<l "New Standard En­
cyclopedia," and supplen1ents and a consultation service in connection 
therc\vi.th to thl1 public. 

PAR. 3. In the. course and conduct of it.heir business as a.foresaid, 
respondents now cause, and for smne fono last past have caused, their 
said hooks including the New Standard Encyclopedia, when sold, to 
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he shipped from their suppliers, located in the State of Illinois and 
in various Sttttes of the Unitecl States, to p1ff<•hasers thereof located. 
in States of the fTnited States other than the state of origination, and 
maintain, and at a11 times mentioned herein have ma.intained, a suh-­
stantial course of trade in said products in commerce, as "commerce'" 
is defined in the Federal Trade Commission ..Ad. 

PAR. 4. In tlw course and conduct of their aforesaid business, re­
spondents now are, and at all tinws mentioned herein h:1ve been, in 
snbstantial competition with c01·poratio11s, firms and individuals in 
the sale of books and eneyc1opedi~1s and supplements and a consulta­
tion service in connection therewith of the same gC'neral kind and na­
ture ns tho~e sold by respondents. 

PAR. f>. In the eonrse nnd conduct of their aforesaid business re­
spondents sell said books, including the New Standard Encyclopedia, 
at retad to the genera] public. Sales are mncle Ly the said respondents' 
agents, representatives or employees ,Yho c·onfact prnspective pur­
chasers in their homes. 

Said respondents have formuln.ted, developed nnd carried out a 
plan for the purpose of juducing the snle of said hooks. In furit.herance· 
of this plan t:he said respondents supply their agents, representatives­
or employees with a "sales pitch" and material in crnmection thcre­
,vith and instruct them to use a.nd follow same. Said agents, repre­
senita.tives or employees em·ploy said sales presentation and 11:rnte,rial 
in orally soliciting t:he purchase o:f respondents' books. 

Said resporidents, in said sales' presentation and in tlic adve1tising, 
promotional literature and other printed materials, and respondents' 
agents, representatives or employees, jn the course of their sales talks, 
make many statements and representations concerning the offer and 
price of respondents' books, the manner of payment for said books~ 
including the New Standard Encyclopedia., and the legal respon­
sibility of prospective pui'chasers and purchasers who contra(~t. for 
t..he purchase of said books. Some of these statements and representa­
tions are ma.de ora1ly by said ag<'nts, representatiYe-s or employees to 
prospective purchasers and some are contained in the. correspondence 
of respondents with purchasers. 

PAR. 6,. Through the use of such statements and representations, and 
others similar thereto, but not speeifica.lly set forth here:in, separately 
or in connection with the oral sn.les presentation of respondents' sales 
personnel as w~ed variously by sa.id respondents in the advertising 
and promotion of their products, sa.id respornlents now represent, and 
have represented, clii~ectly or by implication: 

1. That respondents are conducting an a<ln~rt.ising campaign 
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and .are offering a set of the New Standard Encyclopedia "free" 
.. or at a special or reduced price to specially selected· persons in 
return for: 

a; A letter of endorsement regarding the said set of en­
cyclopedias. 

b. Display of the product in the prospect's home. 
c. An agreement that the encyclopedia will be kept up to 

elate by the prospective customer by the purchase of the an­
nual yea.1~book for 10 years. 

·2. ThaJt the offer of the respondents' encyclopedia. and other 
books is a special jntroduct.ory or reduced price, not being made 
to the public generally; that it is being offered only to a specially 
selected group of people, i.e. me1nibers of the Armed Forces. 

, 3. That certain books included in the respondents' "combina­
tion offer" are given free of cost with the purchase of a subscrip­
tion of the annual yearbook for a period of ten years and that 
purchasers of respondents' "combination offer" pay only for a 
part of _such books. 

4. That the favorable price, terms and conditions of the "spe­
cial introductory" price are limited to the time of the call on the 
prospective customer. 

5. That tthe additional cost of $3.95 for the annual yearbook 
is for postage and handling charges. 

PAR. 1. In truth and in fact: 
1. Respondents' agents, representatives or employees are not 

. conducting an advertising campaign and do not give a set of the 
New ,Standard Encyclopedia free or at a reduced price to specially 
selected persons in return for the 0011sidera.tions heretofore listed 
in Paragraph Six, 1, or for any other reasons or considerations. 
Said encyclopedias are offered and sold only at respondents' usual 
and customary prices. 

2. Respondents' offer of said encyclopedia is not a "special in­
troductory" offer to a specially selected group, i.e., members of 
the Armed Forces. It had been offered and is being offered to the 
general public as a regular practice of the respondents' business. 

3. Ceritain of the books included ·with the encyclopedia in re­
spondents' "conl'bination offer" are not free of cost ·with the pur­
chase .of a. subscription of the annual yearbook for a period of 
ten yea.rs, or for a.ny other reason, as the cost of all such books is 
included in the contract price of the combination offer. Further, 
purchasers pay the full price for all the books in 'the "combina­
tion offer." 
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4. The price, terms and conditions of the so-called '"special in­
troductory" offer are not limited to the time when the call is made 
on the prospective customer. 

5. The annual cost of $3.95 for the annual yearbook is not for 
postage and handling but is a charge, payable directly to Stand­
ard Education Society, the publisher, and, not to the respondents. 

Therefore, the statements and representations set forth in Para­
graph .Six hereof were and are false, misleading and deceptive. 

PAR. 8. The use by respondents of the aforesaid false, misleading 
and deceptive statements and representations has had, and now has, 
the capacity and tendency to mislead members of the purchasing 
public into the mistaken and erroneous belief that such statments 
and representations were and are true, and to enter into contracts for 
the purchase of respondents' products because of such erroneous and 
mistaken belief. 

PAR. 9. The aforesaid acts and practices of the respondents, us herein 
alleged, were, and are, aU to the prejudice a.nd injury of the public, 
and of respondents' competitors and constituted, and now constitute, 
unfair methods of competition in commerce and unfair and decepttive 
acts and practices in commerce in violation of Section 5 of the Federal 
Trade Commission Act. 

lllr. Anthony J. Kennedy, Jr. and Mr. Michael 0. llfoOarey support­
ing the complaint. 

Kfrlcland, Ellii;;, Hodson, Ohaffetz, llfasters & Rowe, by Mr. Ronald 
J. Wilson and Mr. Richard 0. Lowery for respondents. 

INITIAL DECISION BY JOHN B. POINDEXTER, HEARING EXAMINER 

OCTOBER 12, 1970 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

The compl,aint in this proceeding, issued on December 30, 19-69, 
charges that Standard Educators, Inc., a corporation, and James A. 
Melley, .Sr., individually and as an officer of said corporation, herein­
after called respondents, have violated the provisions of the Federal 
Trade Commission Act in the sale of encyclopedias and 'books. After 
service of the complaint, respondents, through their counsel, filed an 
answer denying the charging alJegations in the complaint, including 
the allegation that respondent James A. l\folley, Sr., "formulates, 
directs, and contr;ols" the acts and practices of the corporate re­
spondent. 

Three pre.hearing conferences were held, two of which were steno­
graphically reported, on February 26, 1970, and April 23, 1970, re-
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spectively, and one unreported, held on )fay 28, rn7o. At the conference 
held on April 2a, rn70, an o,rder was ente1·ed on the record by the 
hearing examiner, setting .Tnly 7, H>70, as the date for the hearing to 
begin, and further providing that complaint counsel should, on or 
before l\Iay rn, 1970, deliver to respondents' counsel the names and 
addresses of each of their proposed witnesses, and a brief statement 
of the general nature of the testimony expected from each witness, and 
a copy of each exhibit which complaint counsel expected to offer in 
evidPncc at the hearing. The prehearing ordPr further provided that, 
on or before May 27, rn70, re:_;:pondents' counsel would furnish to com­
plaint counsel the names ,and addresses of their expected defense 
wjtnes.3es, and a statement of the general nature of the testimony 
expected from each, and a copy of each exhibit which respondents ex­
pccte<.1 to offer in evidence at the hearing (Tr. 59). 

The hearing has been held, at which time e,·idence and testimony 
\YCJ"e recei,·ed in support of and in opposition to the allegations of the 
eomplaint. Prnposecl findings of fact, conclusions of law, and a pro­
po;',ecl order, and replies thereto, have been submitted by counsel for 
the parties. These have been considered. AH proposed findings of fact 
an(l conclusions of la,Y not found or concluded herein are denied. 

Fpon the basis of tlw entire record, the hearing examiner makes the 
follmYing findings of fact and conclusions of law, and issues the fol­
lc)\Ying- order: 

Ji'lNIHNGS OJ<' FACT 

1. Hespondc11t Standard Educatol's, Inc. i::; n corporation organized 
and doing bnsines-, under the laws of the State of ('1onnecticut, with 
its office and principal place of business located at 100 Prestige Park 
Roa<l, Rast Hastfonl, (:onnccticut. The individual respondent, James 
A. l\Ielley, Sr., is the presi<.lent of the corporate 1·espondent and his 
lm:e;incss acklress is the same as that of the corporation ( Ans., Par. 1). 

2. Standard Edueators, Inc. was org::111izecl and incorporated in 
Apl"il 1Dfi7, by the individual respondent, .Jnnies A. Melley, Sr., with­
out tlw aid or assistance of an attomey. ~fr. i\fo.lle,y rn:epared and 
drafted the papers nrnl artielcs of incorporation vvhich he filed and 
presented to t lrn State of Conneetjcut (~folley, Tr. 118). The incorpo­
rntors were the incli ,·idnal respondent, .lames .-\. ~folley, Sr., who lw­
<·anw presicl~nt nnd trc>asm·er; his ,Yi:fo, Marg,u·c>t .T. Melley, who be­
came viee presi<h~nt nncl seeretary; ancl his -father, .Tames ,T. Melley, 
who rPsi<fo< l in Scranton, Pennsylvania, and became assistant secretary 
nnd assistant treasurer (Melley, Tr. 118-rn, 1:2:2; CX rn). Stanclnrd 
Eclneat0rs, Inc. lias au anthoriz<>d capital stoek of $1.\000, equally 
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divided jnto 300 shares of common stock, with a par value of $50 per 
share (CX 19Z, 22-28). After the ineorporation, 153 shares of the 
HOO authorized common shares were allotted to the jndividual re­
spondent, James A. Melley, Sr., 141 shares to ·his ·wife, Margaret J. 
l\folley, and six shares to his father, James .T. Melley. There has never 
been any public issnc of the capital stock, and the only change in stock­
holders m1s brought about by the death of James .T. Melley in 1958 . 
.!Hr. ,James A; Melley, .Tr., son of the fr1dividnal respondent, .James A. 
l\Icl1ey, Sr., js now the holdei· of the six shnres of capital stock origi­
na11y issnecl to his grandfather, ,Tames ,T. Melley. There has been no 
elrnnge in the number of shares of stock held by the indiYidual re­
spondent, .James A. Mc11Py, Sr., and his wife, Margaret .J. Melley. At 
the time of the hearing, the individual respondent, .fames 1-\.. lVIelley, 
Sr., owned 51 percent of the capital stock of Standard Educators, 
Inc.; his wife, :Margaret ,J..Melley, owned 4fl percent, and theii· son, 
,James A. Melley, Jr.,;~ percent. The directors were lames A. l\felley, 
Sr., 1\'Ia.rgaret ,J. Melley, Robert L. Atwood, and ,James A. Melley, lr. 
The officers were as follows: ,Tames A. Melley, Sr., president and 
t1·N1s.urer; Robert L. Atwood, vice president; l\Iarga1·et .T. l\Ielley, 
secl'etary; and ,James ..A. Melley, .fr., assistant secretary and assistant 
treasurer (Melley, Tr. 12~-~4, 4<15; CX 19). Th,.oughout. the life of 
t.he corporate respondent, the individrntl respondent, .Tanrns A. Melley, 
Sr., has held the offices of pmsident and t1·easurer, and his wife, Mar­
g,tret ,T. Melley, has '11elcl the office of secretary. Mrs. Melley also held 
the office of vice president until March H)H7, when Robert L. Atwood 
was elected as a Director of Standard Educators, Inc., and given the 
tit.le of vice president, Sales (CX 19). 

:3. The respondents are now and have bren engaged jn the sale and 
distribution of va1·ions books, inclncling an encyelopeclia called "New 
Standard Encyclopedia~" and supplements thereto, to the public (Ans., 
Par. 2) . ..As a book distrib11to1·, Standard Educators, Inc. buys encyclo­
pPdias a.nd other books from puLlishers and re~ells them on a retail 
basis to house-Jwld<'t·s hy door-to-door canvass (.Ans., Par. 5; Melley, 
Tl'. 117, 12:'5). 

4. In the course nnd conduct of said business, the respondents cause 
and ham caused their mid books, including the New Standard 
Enc_ycloped ia, "'.hen sold, to be shi ppecl from the suppliers, located in 
the State of Illinois and in ,·nrious States of the United States, to pur­
eliasers thereof located in States of the United States other than the 
st.at.es of 01·igination, and maintain, and at all times mentioned herein 
have maintained, a substantial course of tmde in commerce, ·as "'com­
merc(~" is drfined in the Federal Trade Commission Act (Ans., Par. 3). 

https://st.at.es
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5. In the conduct of their business, respondents are now and have 
been in .sufbst-antial competition with corporations, firms, and incli­
viduals in the sale of books, encyclopedias, and supplements thereto, 
and a consultation service of the same general kind and nature as those 
sold by respondents ( Ans., Par. 4-). 

6. Prior to the organization and incorporation of Standard Edu­
cators, Inc., the inclividua1 respondent, James A. Melley, Sr., had 
engaged in selling magazines for Crowell-Collier, Inc., and then for 
National Educators, Inc. (Tr. 115-Hi). ·vvhen Mr. Melley decided to go 
jnto business for himself, he organized and incorporated the corporate 
respondent and made arrangements with Standard Education Society, 
Inc. of Chicago, Illinois, to purchase its line of encyclopedias for re­
sale to the pulblic. He also made arrangements with New Century Dic­
tionary of New York and Hammond Atlas Company of Maplewood, 
New ,Jersey, and ,T. G. Ferguson of Chicago, to purchase dictionaries, 
atlases, and other books for resale to the public. These publishers pro­
vide Standard Educators, Inc. 1vith ;broadsides, which are large, paper 
foldouts, usually in color, depicting and explaining the books offered 
for sale. These broadsides are used by salesmen in their sales presenta­
tions (Melley, Tr. H5, 117, 126-130, 182; CX 9). 

7. The respondents, Stm1darcl Educators, Inc., iand Jiames A. Melley; 
Sr., began business in April 19'57, by hiring two salesmen on a com­
mission basis, Robert L. Atwood and Peter C. Hill, who had worked 
with and for Mr. Melley at Crowell-Collier, Inc. (Melley, Tr. 125). 
Mr. .Atwood was trained by Mr: Melley in the selling of magazines at 
Crowell-Collier, Inc., prior to the incorporation of Standard Educa­
tors, Inc. ( l\fell ey, Tr. 458). As additional sales personnel were needed 
through the years, the training of new personnel has consisted of so­
called "on-the-job" training, the recruit going along and observing 
the sales technique of the experienced .salesman. As the recruit gained 
experience, he was allowed to canvass on his own, and, in turn, trained 
others (Melley, Tr. 191-92). As the business of the respondents has 
grown and increased, Mr. Melley no longer participates in door-to­
cloor seUing and now spends his time in the office supervising the 
over-all operations of Standard Educ31tors, Inc. (Melley, Tr. 146-48). 
As president of Standard Educa.tors, Inc., l\fr. Melley determines the 
prices at which en.cyclopedias and other books are sold, and is largely 
responsible for the composition and preparation of contracts used by 
Standard Educators, Inc. (Melley, Tr. 126, 142, 162; CX 3). 

8. Standard Educators' salesmen are compensated on a commission 
basis (Melley, Tr. 139-140). Each sales representative is provided 
,vith a sales kit, which includes, among other things, the broadsides 
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which Standard Educators, Inc. receives from its publishers, and a 
sample volume of the encyclopedia (Melley, Tr. 127-28, 130--34, 135-37, 
193-95; CX 4--16). Each Standard Educators' sales representative 

, also carries a contract form (CX 18), which he fills out and has the 
purchaser sign if a: sale is mad~ (Melley, Tr. 161-62). The books that 
are offered for sale by Standard Educators., IncC. are sold in various 
combinations (Melley, Tr. 124). The New Standard Encyclopedia 
offered for sale by Standard Educators, Inc. in 1967 -carried a basic 
retail price of $149.50 (1Melley, Tr. 140--41; CX 3). The total price 
of the combination varied, depending upon the other books purchased, 
and was computed according to a formula which assigned a designated 
number of points for each additional item and then equated a dollar 
value for each point (Melley, Tr.141; CX3). 

9. Standard Educators, Inc., in sales presentations arid in the adver­
tising, promotional literature, and other printed materials, and the 
agents, representatives, salesmen or employees of corporate respond­
ent, in the course of their sales talks, make many statements and reip­
resentations concerning tlie offer and price of corporate respondent's 
books, the manner of payment for said books, including the New Stand­
ard Encyclopedia, and the legal responsibility of prospective pur­
chasers and purchase.rs who contra.ct for the purchase of said books. 
Some of these statements and representations are made orally by said 
a.gents, representatives, salesm.en or employees to prospective pur­
chasers and some are contained in the correspondence of the corporate 
respondent with purchasers (Ans., Par. 5). 

10. The complaint alleges that, through the use of such statements 
and re.presentations, separately or in connection with the o:ral sales 
presentation of said salesmen, respondents represent and· have rep­
resented, cljrectly or by implication: 

1. That respondents are conducting an advertising campaign 
and are offering a set of the New Encyclopedia "free" or at . a 
special or reduced price to specially selected persons in return for: 

a. A letter of endorsement regarding the said set of 
encyclopedias. · · 

b. Display of the product in the prosped's home. 
c. An a.greement that the encyclopedia will be kept up to 

date by the prospective customer by the purchase. of the 
annual yearbook for 10 ye,a.rs. 

2. That the offer of corporate respondent's encyclopedia and 
other books is a special introductory or reduced price, not being 
made to the pi!blic generally; that it is being offered only to a 
special selected group of people, i.e., members of the Armed 
Forces. 

https://salesm.en
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3. That certain books included in the "combination offer" are 
given free of cost with the ·purchase of a subscription of the an­
nual yearbook for a period of ten years and that purchasers of 
the "combination offer" pay only for a part of such books. 

4. That the favorable price, te11ns and conditions of the 
"special introductory" price are limited to the time of the call 
on the prospective customer. 

5. That the additional cos-t of $:3.95 for the annual yearbook is 
for postage and handling charges. 

11. Whereas, in truth and in fact : 
1. Corporate respondent's agents, representatives, sales­

men or employees are not conducting an advertising campaign 
and do not give .a set of the New Encyclopedia free or at a 
reduced price to specia.lly selected persons in return for the 
considerations listed ;in Paragraph 10, 1 above (Pal'agr-apli 
Six, 1, of the complaint) or for any other ren;?ons or con­
siderations. Said encyclopedias are offe.red and sold only at 
corporate respondent's usual and customary prices. 

2. Corporate respondent's offer of said encyclopedias is not 
a "special introductory" offer to a specially selected group, 
i.e., members of the ...:\r·med Forces. It had been offel'rnl arnl 
is being offered to the general public as a regular practice of 
corporate respondent's business. 

3. Certain of the books included with the encyclopedia in 
corporate respondent's "combination offer" are not free of 
cost with the purchase of a subscription of the annual year­
book for a period of ten years, or for any other reason, as the 
cost of all such books is included in the contract, price of the 
combination offer. Further, pnrchasprs pay the full price for 
all the books int.he "combination offer.~, 

4. The price, terms and conditions of the. so-called "special 
introductory" offer are not limited to the time when the call 
is made on the prospective customer. 

5. The annual cost of $3.95 for the annual yearbook is not 
for postage and handling, hut is a charg-e, payable directly 
to Standard Education Society, the publisher, and i10t to the 
corporate respondent. 

12. Therefore, the complaint alleges, the statements and representa­
tions se.t forth in Pa1·agraph Six of 1the complaint (Paragraph 10 
hereof) ,,,ere and are false, misleading, and deceptive, and have the 
capacity and tendency to mislead members of the purchasing public 
into the belief 'that such statements and representations were and are 
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true, and to enter into contracts for the purchase of corporate respond­
ent's products because of such erroneous and mistaken belief. 

13. Before discussing the evidence and testimony offered in support 
of and in opposition to the allegations of the complaint, mention shoulcl 
be made of some of the various motions and_ applications filed by 
respondents' counsel shortly before the hearing was scheduled to begin. 
on July 7, 1970. 

14. On June 9, 1970, less than 30 days prior to the date scheduled 
for the start of the hearing on July 7, 1970, counsel for respondents: 
tiled an application to take the depositions upon ,vrittcn interroga­
tories of 14 consumer witnesses, although their names, along with 
others, had been furnished ,to respondents' counsel by complaint coun­
sel on March 27-30, 1970, and J:fay 13, 1970, pursuant to tlrn order on 
the record at the prehearing conference on April 23, 1970. No reason 
was given why the request was filed less than 30 days prim:: to the 
elate scheduled for hearings to begin, although respondents first re­
ceived ,the names of those witnesses from complaint counsel on 
1\farch 27-30, 1970. The application state<l that depositions by written 
interrogatories were requested from. these particular witnesses because 
their addresses were too far distant from ,Vashington, D.C., for re­
spondents' counsel to interview prior to the trin,1. All of the Cornrnjs­
sion's proposed consumer ,vitnesses ,vere either members of the armed 
forces of the United States or wives of members, and their addresses 
and dnty stations were constantly changing. A.ctua]]y, only four of the 
14 proposed consumer witnesses from whom respondents sought to-take 
(le.positions by written interrogatories testified at the hearing. These 
,vere :Messrs. Michael G. :Martin, Larry E. Riggs, Leonard R. "\Vilt, 
and Fred G. Bryant, ,Jr. Another proposed consumer ,vitness, ,vhose 
deposi.tion respondents sought to take by written interrogatories was 
Daniel E. Olson, a member of the U.S. Army stationed at Fo1t Richard­
son, Alaska (Tr. 219-220; CX 21). However, Mr. Olson did not testify 
n,t the hearing. Instead, his wife., Mrs. Linda ,J. Olson was the, first 
consumer witness who testified in support of the complaint. 

15. The written interrogatories are the same for each proposed wit­
ness, and relate to the contract, if any, signed by the proposed witness 
at the time of the purchase of encycloprdias rrncl books from corporate 
respondent's salesmen. It is evident that the original contract, if any, 
signed by each proposed witness was in corporate respondent's files 
and available to corporate respondent and its attorneys for their use 
in preparing for tl}e hearing. The evidence adduced aJ tlie. hearing 
demonstrates that most of the information requested in the ,vritten 
interrogatories ,,·as contained in the contract. This being so, the im-

(. 
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portant thing to corporate respondent for discovery purposes prior 
to the hearing was the name of the proposed consumer witness, re­
gardless of his correct address... \Vith the name of the witness, respond­
ents or their attorneys could then examine their files and locate the 
signed contract, if any, of each proposed witness, and obtain from the 
face ,of the contract all of the information sought in the written inter­
rogatories relating to the contract of that particular witness.1

· On 
June 22, 1970, complaint counsel filed an answer opposing respondents' 
application for the depositions by written interrogatories. On June 25, 
1970, the hearing examiner denied respondents' application for the 
depositions. 

16. On June 16, 1970, counsel for respondents filecl a Motion for 
Summary Decision with Supporting Memorandum. Tiiis motion was 
opposed by complaint counsel and denied by the hearing examiner on 
July 2, 1970. 

· 17. On June 30, 1970, counsel for respondents filed a "Motion to 
Postpone Hearings Now Scheduled for July 7, 1970," which was denied 
by an order of the hearing examiner filed on July 6, 1970. 

18. On July 7, 1970, the date on which the hearing was scheduled 
to begin, counsel for respondents filed a "Motion to Suppress Docu­
mentary and Testimmiial Evidence Originating from April and May 
1967 Investigation." This motion alleged, in substance, that the in­
formation and documents obtained by the Commission investigator 
from Mr. Melley during his investigation of corporate resp,ondent at 
its offices in East Hartford, Connecticut, in April and May 1967, were 
taken without the consent of Mr. Melley. Counsel for respondents 
contend that this constituted illegal seizure and, therefore, the infor­
mation and documents obtained from l\fr. Melley should be suppresse,d. 
After hearing evidence and testimony by the Commission investigator 
who conducted the investigation of corporate i·espondent, which ulti­
mately resulted in the issuance of the complaint herein, and also 
testimony from Mr.•James A. Melley, Sr., president and stockholder 
of the corporate respondent, and an individual responcle,nt herein, 
,tnd also the testimony of Mr. Robert L. Atwood, general sales man­
ager and vice president of corporate respondent, on respondents' claim 

1 Mr. Gary G. Broach, the fourth consumer witn.ess who testified at the hearing, was the 
only consumer 'Witness who did not sign a contract. Since there was no signed contract in 
i:e.sponclent:s' files for Mr. Ilroach, the deposition of Mr. Broach would have been of 
assistance to ·respondents in preparing for the hearing. For this reason, the hearing 
examiner has not considered the testimony of Mr. Broach in this decision. There is ample 
testimony by the otller consumer witnesses to establish the allegations of the complaint 
with respect to alleged false, misleading, and deceptive statements and representations by 
corporate respondent's salesmen or representatives. However, a recital of the testimony of 
Mr. Broach has been incorporated in the decision for the benefit of the Commission in the 
event it shot1ld qecide to consider the testimony of Mr. Broach. 
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of illegal seizure, the hearing examiner was of the opinion that the 
information and documents ,vere not "seized" by the investigator, but 
were voluntarily delivered by Mr. Melley to the investigator in a 
spirit of cooperation with the Commission in its investigation of cor­
porate respondent. Accordingly, the hearing examiner denied respond­
ents' motion to suppress (Tr. 100). Following a recess for counsel to 
discuss a possible consent agreement, ,vhich was not successful, com­
plaint counsel then began the presentation of their direct case-in-chief. 

19. The first consumer witness offered by complaint counsel to sup­
port the allegations of the complaint with respect to alleged misrepre­
sentations by respondents' salesmen in their sales presentations to 
customers was Mrs. Linda J. Olson, 705 Muldoon Road, Anchorage, 
Alaska. At this point, counsel for respondents .~bjected to the testi­
mony of Mrs. Olson on two grounds: ( 1) that the address for Mrs. 
Olson furnished to respondents' counsel on May 13, 1970, in compliance 
with the prehearing order ,of the hearing examiner issued 'at a pre­
hearing conference on April 23, 1970, listed Mrs. Olson's address as 
South College Avenue, Fort Collins, Colorado, which was not her 
correct address; and (2) that, because of the hearing examiner's refusal 
to permit respondents' counsel to take the clep~sition of Mrs. Olson 
upon written interrogatories, respondents' counsel did not have any 
"notion of what facts she had in this case" (Tr. 218). To the contrary, 
respondents had the signed contract of Mr. and Mrs. Ols.on in their 
office files and, by examining the contract (CX 21), could have ob­
tn-ined a "notion of what facts she had in this case." Actually, re­
spondents' application did not request to ta1rn the deposition of Mrs. 
Olson, but e.ought to take the deposition of Daniel K Olson, husband 
of Mrs. Olson. It was :further developed by complaint counsel that, 
on March 27, 1970, complaint counsel had given respondents' counsel 
a tentative witness list, and again on May 13, 1970, pursuant to the 
prehearing order of the hearing examiner, complaint counsel filed 
with the Secretary a final list of witnesses, ,on each of ·which lists the 
address for Mr. and Mrs. Olson was also listed as Fort Collins, Colo­
rado, which was the address that complaint counsel ha.d "received 
from the Department of Defense as being the home of record or a 
home ,of record of one of the parents of Mr. Olson" (Tr. 219). Thus, 
respondents and their counsel were aware, of the name of each con­
sumer ·witness for at least three months prior to the hearing and, with 
this information, could examine the signed contracts of these ,vit­
nesses in their files, with the exception of Mr. Gary G. Broach, who 
did not sign a contract ( see the footnote in Paragraph 15 above). 
Complaint counsel later obtained M:r. Olson's present duty status and, 
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on June 27, 1970, complaint counsel supplied to Mr. vVilson, c.ounsel 
for respondents, the address in Alaska ,Ylwre :Mr. and ]\.frs. Olson can 
now be reached. Upon listening to this explanation concerning the 
address of :Mr. and Mrs. Olson, the. hearing examiner denied the 
motion of Mr. vVilson, respondents' counsel, and permitted 1Hrs. Olson 
to testify (Tr. 219). 

20. Mrs. Olson testified that her husband is an enlisted man in the 
U.S. Army, stationed at Fort Richardson, Alaska, and that on April rn, 
1967, she resided in Ayer, Massachusetts, with her husband who was 
also at that time in the U.S. Army (Tr. 219-220). On the evening of 
April 19, 19G7, a representative of corpornte respondent, Standard 
Educators, Inc., called at their residence and requested that he be 
permitted to place encyclopedias in their home "at no cost to us and 
this ,vas a special deal and then went on to explain. * * * He ex­
pl a incd that the company would place the encyclopedias in our home 
and they were doing this because they needed people to wiite letters 
saying that they liked the encyclopedias or to give their opinion of 
the encyclopedias and these would be used for advertising purposes" 
(Tr. 221). Mrs. OJson further testified that the set o-f encyclopedias, 
literature books, children's books, dictionaries, and a medical encyclo­
pedia "·ere to be free (Tr. 2·22), but that l\fr. and Mrs. Olson were to 
pay for the yearbooks for a period of ten years in payments within 
a tw.o to three year period (Tr. 228). The payment for the yearbooks 
"would come to a total of $i34D. * * * He explajned it could be paid 
in cash then; like if we had the money to pay $a4D to him right then, 
we could; or if we couldn't aJford that, "·c conld pay $12 a month until 
it was paid off' (Tr. 224-25). l\:frs. Olson further testified that she 
and her husband decided to buy the yearbooks and signed a contract, 
which was received in evidence as CX 21. Mr. and Mrs. Olson ma.de a 
down payment of $12, and the books "·ere sent to Mr. Olson's parents' 
address in Colorado (Tr. 227). l\frs. Olson further testified that: 

\Ylwn the uext yearbook eMne ont, "·e n-'<:l'iYecl a paper in tht~ mail saying thnt 
if we wanted to re<·ein• tlw yearbook, to seucl in $:3.!Jri bnt that WP <:ould not 
reeeiYe that yearhook unless we paid the li,3.05 (Tr. 227-2R). 

In spjte of the offer of the hearing examiner to permit counsel for 
respondents to inteniew and question the witness in private, counsel 
declined to cross-examine the witness (Tr. 228). 

21. The second consumer witness called by complaint counsel wns 
Mrs. Jacqueline vVilt of Salem, Ohio. Respondents' counsel objected 
to the testimony of l\frs. ,Vilt on the stated grounds that the hearing 
examiner had refused to permit counsel for respondents to take the 
deposition of Mrs. ,vilt's husband by written interrogatories. The 
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objection was overruled and the ·witness was permitted to testify 
(Tr. 230). Mrs. Wilt testified as follows: On May 27, 1968, Mr. and 
Mrs. ·wilt resided at 66 Mumford, Groton, Connecticut, during the 
time that her husband was a Radioman Second Class, U.S.. Navy. On 
that evening, two men called at their home and stated that they wonlcl 
place a new edition of encyclopedias, two dictionaries, a Bible or 
a medical book, a bookcase, and a set of Child Horizon books in 
their home free of charge and, after the "Wilts had kept the. books for 
ninety days, the 1Vilts were to write a letter to the company to be 
used :for sales promotions. The only payment to be made by the \Vilts 
was $299.95 for the yearbooks to be received over a ten-year perioL1 
(Tr. 231-33). ~fr. and Mrs. 1Vilt signed a contract, which wa,s received 
in evidence as CX 20 (Tr. 234-35). l\f rs. Wilt read the contract, 
her husband ,vas given an opportunity to read the contract, nnd Mr. 
and Mrs. ·wilt made a $12 down pa,yment toward the purchase (Tr. 

/ . 
- 236). Counsel for respondents refused to cross-examine the witifcss on 

the grounds that he ·was not permitted to take "a written deposit.ion as 
requested" (Tr. 237). Complaint counsel stated that complaint counsel 
supplied Mr. 1Vilson, respondents' counsel, with the correct ·address of 
:Mrs. 1Vi1t, and Mr. 1Vilson has had that address since March 27, 1D70 
(Tr. 238). 

22. Mr. Leonard Richard 1Vilt, husband of Mrs. Jacqueline "\Vilt, 
,vas the third consumer witness called by complaint counsel. Mr. \Vilt 
testified substantially as follows: 1Vhile in the service of the U.S. Navy 
and residing at 6G Mumford Avenue, Groton, Connecticut, on May 
27, 1968, he and his wife entered into a contract with Standard Edu­
cators, Inc., a.nd, several days later, receiYed a telephone call from 
a lady who stated that she was calling to confirm his order for a 
set of encyclopedias, a medical hook, Child Horizons, and a dark 
mahogany type bookcase (Tr. 240-41). At the conclusion of Mr. 1Vilt's 
testimony, respondents' counsel refused to cross-examine the ,vit­
ness "on the grounds as stated for the prior witnesses" (Tr. 243). 

23. The fourth consumer witness called by complaint counsel was 
Gary G. Broach, an Interior Cornmunicnt.ions Technician, United 
States Navy, who gave his official address as USS JAMES K. POLK, 
SSBN -645. Respondents' counsel objected to any testimony from Mr. 
Broach as :follows: On the ,vitness list submitted by complaint. counsel 
to respondents' counsel on M·ay 13, ID70, the address for Mr. Broach 
was listed as RFD Number 6, Box 3B, Ledyard, Connecticut. Counsel 
for respondents att~mpted to communicate ·with Mr. Broach by tele­
phone and by letter- in an effort to interview him, but was not suc­
cessful (Tr. 244). The hearing examiner offered to permit Mr. ·Wilson, 

470-883-73--56 
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respondents' counsel, to interview Mr. Broach in private or in the 
hearing room, but counsel refused (Tr. 245). Complaint counsel then 
proceeded to question Mr. Broach concerning his address. Although 
the official address and duty station of Mr. Broach was the USS 
JAMES K. POLK, the off-crew home station being New London, 
Conneoticut, his address a,shore at the time of the hearing was 60 
Washington Street, Mystic, Connecticut. In April 1967, Mr. Broach 
had a shore address where he resided on Linton Avenue in <1-roton, 
Connecticut. ·while residing on Linton A venue in Groton (he did not 
remember the street number) in April 1967, a man came to the door 
o:f his home and stated that Standard Educators, Inc. would be placing 
encyclopedias in the homes o:f military personnel at no cost, and that 
the only obligation of Mr. Broach would be -a charg~ of $29.95 per 
year for a period of 10 years for the yearbook and Mr. Broach was to 
write a letter' to the company within 30 to 60 days expressing his 
opinion of the encyclopedia. Mr. Broach did not purchase the year­
book but, at the request of the salesman, Mrs. Broach gave the sales­
man the name and address of Mr. and Mrs. "\Vilt as prospects who 
might be interested in purchasing the yearbook. The two couples lived 
in the same neighborhood and Mr. "\Vilt was stationed on the same ship 
with Mr. Broach (Tr. 249-250). At the conclusion of Mr. Broach's 
testimony, respondents' counsel declined to cross-examine the witness. 
Counsel made an additional objection ,to his testimony on the ground 
that, since Mr. Broach did not sign a contract, Standard Educators, 
Inc. had no record in its files concerning 1\Ir. Broach and the nature 
of his testimony and counsel was not prepared to cross-examine (Tr. 
251). In view of respondents' objections, the hearing examiner will 
not consider the ,testimony o:f Mr. Broach in this decision. There is 
amp]e testirnony from other witnesses to establish the allegatfons of 
the complaint without the testin1ony of Mr. Broach. The substance 
of his testimony has been set ont for the convenience of the Commis­
sion should it decide to consider his testimony. 

~4. The fifth consumer witness ca1Jecl by complaint counsel was l\1rs. 
Catherine Taylor, 65 "\Voodla,vn Avenue, Kittery, Maine. Mrs. Taylor 
testified as follows: On March 28, 1967, l\:frs. Taylor and her husband, 
who was then in the United States Navy, resided at 18G Marcie Street, 
Portsrn.outh, N mv I-:fampshire. On thn.t evening, a man visited their 
residence, stating that he was a salesman for Standard Educators, Inc., 
and a.sked that he be permitted to show his books (Tr; 258-54). The 
salesman told Mr. and Mrs. Taylor that the encyclopeclins, a Bible, a 
medical book, children's books -and -an atlas ·would be placed in their 
home free in exchange for the use of their name for advertising. Mr. 
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and Mrs. Taylor were to write a letter to Standard Educators, Inc., 
telling them what the Taylors thought about the books (Tr. 254-55). 
The salesman "told us that we could get the yearbook to. keep the 
encyclopedias up to date and tha,t was for around $29 a year, that we 
could pay it up within two years" (Tr. 256) ; that the Taylors would 
receive :the yearbooks for 10 years, but, instead of paying for the 
full 10 years, the Taylors would pay $12 per month for two years (Tr. 
256). Mrs. Taylor's husband signed the contract which was received 
in evidence as CX 23 (Tr. 257). After the contract was signed, Mr. 
and Mrs. Taylor made a downpayment, but Mrs. T,aylor did not 
remember the exact amount. Subsequently, the books were received 
and, at the time of the hearing, the amount of the contract. had been 
paid in 1full (Tr. 258). ,; 

25. Mr. Allen G. Taylor, the husband of Mrs. Catherine Taylor, was 
the sixth consumer witness called by complaint counsel. After stating 
that he was in the United States N:avy on March 28, 1967, the date 
on which he executed .the contract with corporate respondent, Mr. 
Taylor testified thait he did not receive any telephone call from cor­
porate respondent to either confirm or verify the contract (Tr. 277). 
On cross-examination by Mr. Wilson, respondents' counsel, Mr. Taylor 
testified, among other things, that he did not read the contraot com­
pletely before he signed it (Tr. 280). 

26. The seventh consumer witness called by complaint counsel was 
Mr. Bruce David Campbe.U, ,vho gave his present address as 14~35 
Shirley, Warren, Michiga11. At this l)oint, respondents' counsel ob­
jected to testimony by l\1r. Campbell on the ground that the address 
for 1'fr. Camptbell shown on the witness list furnished to respondents' 
counsel on May 13, 1970, was U.S. Na.val "\Veapons Station, York­
town, Virginia, which was not his correct address. Respondents' coun­
sel stated that he attempited to communicate with Mr. Campbell, both 
by telephone and by letter, and ,va.s unable to do so (Tr. 283-84). 
Before rnling on the objection, the hearing examiner requested that 
complaint counsel question the witness concerning his address (Tr. 
284). In answer Ito questions by complaint counsc.I, Mr. C1imphel1 ex­
pla,ined that, until April 6, 1970, he resided at the U.S. Naval vVea,pons 
Station, Yorktown, Virginia., ,,yhcre he was stationed with the United 
States Navy. Due to ·a reduction in the United States defense pro­
gram, JHr. Cainpbe,11 received an early release from the; N a:vy, and, 
on April 6, 1970, moved to \iVarre.n, Michigan, where he now resides 
(Tr. 285). Mr. Campbell had originally :believed that he would be dis­
charged fr01n the Na.vy on some date in July rn7o, and had so advised 
complaint counsel in Janua.ry or F'ebruary 1970. On the date that he 

https://Janua.ry
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testified, .July 9, 1970, Mr. Campbe11 expected to be discharged from 
the Navy within about one ,veek (Tr. 285-86). Following several 
questions by respondents' counsel on voii· dire examination, til1e hear­
ing examiner overruled the objections by respondents' counsel to te.s:. 

· timony from Mr. Campbell (Tr. 287). i,{r. Campbell then testified 
as follows: On the evening of April 5, H>G7, ";hi]e serving the Uniitcd 
States Navy and residing at 1 Hunt Court, Newport, Rlwde Island, 
with his wife, a. man visited his residence and stated that he was work­
jng in cooperation with the loca.l N a.vy base installation and had a 
special offer only for military personnel, and that the offer would only 
be given one time. The sale,sman exhibited litt-rntnrc, color pamphlets 
and foldouts, and told Mr. n.ncl l\frs. Camplle11 t,1rnt thc,~.encyclopedias, 
medical encyclopec1ia., dictjonary and literature ·were free, and tlrnt 
the Ca,mpibells would only have to pay for the anrnrn] yearbook, which 
they would receive ea.ch year, ·over a. 10-year pPriod. In relturn, l[r. 
nnd Mrs. Campbel! were to write a letter to Standard Educators, Inc., 
cxprcs..sing their opinion of the books. The salesman told them that the 
yea.rhooks would cost about $30 ea.ch, or a total of $300 for the 10-year 
period, and that Mr. and Mrs. Campbell could make payments of $10 
per month untilthe $:100 was p::tid (Tr. 288-8!:>). Mr. Campbell signed 
a contract, ·which "·as received in evidence as CX 22. Mr. Campbell 
gave the salesman his personal check for $10 as the downpnyment, 
and a.bout hYo wedrn later received the books through the mail (Tr. 
2D0). Mr. Campbell made one payment of $~0.95 and, after receiving 
the books and being of the opinion that the books were not of the 
quality represented, he packed the books nnd shjpped them bade to 
the coqJorate respondent. l\fr. Campbell then wrote cor1porate re­
spondent a letter and requested that his money be. refunded, but did 
not receive any refund. Mr. Campbell did not receive a telephone ca11 
or letter from corporate respondent, re.questing verification of the con­
h·act (Tr. 291). Respondents' counsel refused to cross-examine Mr. 
Campbell on the gronnds previously stated, although offered an oppor­
tnnity to question thP witnPss outsidP the hearing room (Tr. 291-92). 

27. The eighth commrner ·witness offered by complaint counsel ,vas 
Mrs. April Maillet, who gave her present address as Sand Hurst 
Trailer Pa.rk, S,vansboro, North Carolina. At that point, respondents' 
counsel objected to the testimony of Mrs. l\faillet on the ground that 
the address of this witness furnished by complaint counse1 to respond­
ents' counsel on l\fay 13, 1970, was 102 Dennertt Street, Portsmouth, 
New Hampshire, ,vhicrh was not correct. The hea.ring examiner de­
ferred a. ruling on the objection until he hea.rd an explanation from 
complaint counsel and the witness concerning the address fumished 

(j 
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to respondents~ co1msel (Tr. 29:1). Mrs. l\faillet explained that her 
lrnsband is in the U.S. l\Lujne Corps and, prior to the end of April. 
H>70, Mrs. Maillet resided at their residence located a.t 102 Dennett 
Street, Portsmont,h, Ke"· Hampshire, while her husband was stn­
tionecl in Vietnam. .At the rncl of Apdl, 1970, l\Ir. Maillet was trans­
ferred to Camp Le,Jeune. X orth Carolina, thirty days earlier tlrnn he 
had expected. After Mrs. ).faillet left her residence in Portsmouth, 
Ne,Y Hampshire, some time elapsed before complaint eounsel could 
locatt, :\hs. :\faillet at lwr nrw aclcln,ss in North Carolina. After listen­
in.!2.· to this explanation, the hearing examiner overruled the objections 
of respondents~ connscl to the testimony of Mrs. Maillet (Tr. 2D4-G3). 
Fnl1o,Ying a short voir dire examination by respom1rnts' counseL com­
plaint co1m~el pointed out thnt l\fr. ,vilson ,vas furnished the correct 
:H1dress for Mrs. l\foil]et on ,Tnne 20, 1970) as soon as complaint counsel 
]iac1 discovered her present ndclress (Tr. :296-97). l\Irs. l\faillet then 
testified as follo,Ys: In the early evening of Febmnry 9, 1067, while 
residing: at 9 Prospect Street, Portsmouth, X e,Y Hnmpshire, ,vhere 
lwr husband ,Yas then stationed at the Portsmouth N nxal Shipyard, a 
repn'sentatiYe of corporate respondent Yisited itheir home and told 
tlwm t.Jrnt ,:we hac1 been cl1osen to receive encyclopedias nt a military 
disconnC (Tr. 298). The price for the books, the encyclopedias, the 
~-<,arbooks, the dictionaries., medical book, chilckraft and Atlas ,ms 
8:?09 (Tr. 297-98). The salesman statecl to Mr. and Mrs. Ma.illet that 
the price of $209 included everything, and that "we were to display 
t lwse in our home. 1111<1 to write n letter ,Yithin 00 or GO days. I hcliew. 
tP11ing them that ,w Pnjoyecl the Lcoks ancl hmv beneficial they were:: 
(Tr. 29D). Mr. and ~Irs. :Maillet decided to bny the bcoks, and Mr. 
::\faillet signed a contract. J'f'Cei n~cl in ·evidence ns ex 27 (Tr. 20D). 
T]w. salesman stated tlrnt ::Ur. nnd ~frs. l\faillet could pn;y at the rate 
o-E $12 per rnonth on tlw bm1:tet plan. "·ith a domi.pn~·mrnt of $12. 
:;\[r. and )frs. Maillet <lid not lrn n' thr money for the <lownpayment 
nt that time~ and the sn]e:::mnn retnrnecl the follmYing "·eek and col­
]pctecl the downpayment (Tr. :-WO). Subse<p1rntly. ~fr. nncl ~Irs. Mail­
let received the books :i.nd, nt. the time of the hearing, had made pny­
nwnts totaling approximately $:2i50. }lrs. Maillet testifird that she had 
not n'ceivecl a telephone cn.11 or letter asking wrific-ntion of the terms 
of the contract. Respondents· emmscl refnsefl to cross-examine the ,Yit­
ne~s nnc1 dec1ined to inten·ie"· Mrs. l\Iaillet outside the hearing room 
nn the grounds stated pre,·iously (Tr .301). 

28. The ninth consume.r witness offe.red by complaint counsel ,Yas 
l\fr. Larry Edward Riggs, who garn his present ac1c1ress as 81+ Brom1-
ing Street, Shreveport 1 Louisiana. At this point, Mr. ,vilson, re-
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spondetj.ts'counsel, objected to his testimony on the grounds that the 
address -furnished for Mr. Riggs by complai1it counsel to respondents' 
counsel was 448 Rutherford Street, Apartment 2, Shreveport, Louisi­
ana, which address was not correct, and also on the grounds that 
respondents' counsel was denied tJ1e opportunity to take the deposition 
of Mr. Riggs by written interrogatories. The hearing examiner de­
ferred ruling on the objections until he heard an explanation with re­
spect to Mr. Riggs' address. Mr. Riggs explained that, prior to moving 
to his present address at 814 Browning Street, Shreveport, Louisiana, 
approxiniately two months ago, he resided at 448 Rutherford Street, 
Apartment 2, Shreveport, Louisiana, the address furnished to Mr. 
"Wilson by complaint counsel on May 13, 1970, pursuant to the hearing 
examiner's prehearing order. Complaint counsel stated t}Jat this was 
the only address for Mr. Riggs known to complaint counsel at the 
time the witness list was furnished. The objections to the testimony of 
Mr. Riggs were overruled (Tr. 302-304). Mr. Riggs then testified as 
follows: On April 6, 1967, Mr. Riggs was married, a Petty Officer 
Third Class in the United States Navy, and resided with his wife at 
122 Prospect, Apartment 2, Newport, Rhode Island (Tr. 304-305). 
During the evening of that day, a representative of corporate respond­
ent visited his residence and stated tha;t "for a. written letter which 
could be used as an advertisement we would receive the encyclopedias 
as more or less payment for the letJte.r plus then the. children's books, 
dictionaries, and the medical set-there would be a reduction in price 
on them" (Tr. 306). The letter was to contain a statement from Mr. 
and Mrs. Riggs as to their opinion of the books, which letter ,vas to 
be used for advertising purposes (Tr. 304-306). The price to Mr. and 
Mrs. Riggs was to be $299.50 for the children's encyclopedias, the 
medical books, and ·the dictionaries, but there would be no charge for 
the regular set of encyclopedias, and in a:ddition l\Ir. and ~frs. Riggs 
would receive yearbooks four times per year with only a charge for 
the postage thereon. Mr. Riggs signed a contract, which was received 
in evidence as CX 28. Mr. Riggs read the contract before signing it 
(Tr. 307). The salesman stated that the offer was being made to young 
married military personnel (Tr. 3·08). Mr. Riggs made a $5 down pay­
m.ent for the books. Several days later, two representatives of Stand-· 
arcl Educ8:tors, Inc. visited Mr. Riggs and inquired if he and ~frs. 
Riggs were happy with the books and if they had received all of them.. 
Upon being told that all the books had not been received, the men left. 
A few clays later, after the remainder of the books had been received, 
the men. returned and inquired if all the books had been received. 
Upon being told that they had been received, the men left and Mr. and 
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Mrs. Riggs heard nothing further until they rece,ived a form requesting 
the payment of $3.95 before the yearbooks would be mailed. Mr. Riggs 
has paid the $299.50 in full, and testified he did not receive a telephone 
call or letter requesting veriifi:cation of the contract which he signed 
(Tr. 309-310). Mr. "Wilson, respondents' counsel, refused to cross­
examine or interview Mr. Riggs outside the hearing room (Tr. 
310-311). 

29. The tenth consumer witness called by complaint counsel was 
Mr. Fred J. Bryant, Jr., who gave his address as 1329 Hibiscus Street, 
Columbia, ,South Carolina, Staff Sergeant, United States Army. At 
this point, Mr. Wilson, respondents' counsel, objected to the testi­
mony of Mr. Bryant on the grounds that he was de,nied an opportunity 
to get information concerning Mr. Bryant's know ledge of the facts 
in this case and an application to take his deposition on written inter­
_rogatories was denied. The objection was overruled (Tr. 312) ., Mr. 
Bryant testified as follows: One evening during the month or.Feb­
ruary 1965, a man who stated he was a representative of Standard 
Educators, Inc. visited Mr. Bryant and his wife at their residence 
then located at 1901 Kiekie Place, Wahiawa, Oahu, Hawaii. The man 
told Mr. and 'Mrs. Bry,anit that their names had been given ito him 
and that "we might be possible representatives :for Standard Educa­
tors. If they placed the encyclopedias in our home they would be given 
to us free, if we would agree to show them ito other people who might 
want to see them. That ,vas on the basis if ,ve liked them or not. He pro­
ceeded to show us the books" (Tr. 313). The salesman stated that 
Mr. and Mrs. Bryant could purchase other items, yearbooks, ,vorld 
books, "but it was not necessarily in conjunction with the encyclo­
pedias, to my understanding at that time" (Tr. 313-14). l\fr. Bryant 
signed a contract, which was received in evidence as CX 18, and the 
salesman told Mr. Bryant that he had to have the contract form in 
order-

to run a background on myself and my wife, but it wa,s not a binding agreement 
that we would accept the books because we told him that we wanted to talk it 
over and we would let him know if we wanted them. He said, "Fill this out 
anyway," for my references, I guess (Tr. 314). 

,vhile the contract recites that ·a downpayment of $.10 was made with 
the order, Mr. Bryant testified that he did not pay the representative · 
any money (Tr. 312-314). Although acknowledging that he signed 
the contract (CX 18) , Mr. Bryant testified ,that he did not think he 
was entering into a contract to purchase the books, the salesman having 
"* * * told me I was not bound to any final agreements with Stand­
ard Educators at that time" (Tr. 315). Mr. Bryant did not telephone 

(, 



878 FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION DECISIONS . 

Initial Decision 79 F.T.C. 

corporate respondent and tell respondent that he wanted the encyclo­
pedias, but corporate respondent shipped the encyclopedias to his 
residence. Mr.. Bryant's wife refused to accept them and sent the 
encyclopedias back (Tr. 315). Corporate respondent returned the 
books to Mr. Bryant. l\fr. Bryant stated that "vVe kept the hooks 
because we were afraid if we sent the books back we still might have 
to pay for the books v;:ithout even having them, is the reason why ,ve 
kept them" (Tr. 316). l\Ir. Bryant started making payments, but did 
not pay the amount of the contract in full (Tr. 316). Mr. Bryant has 
had the same address in South Carolina from 1966 to the date of 
the hearing (Tr. 318). Respondents' counsel refused to cross-examine 
the witness on the grounds that he was denied permission to take the 
deposition of Mr. Brya.nt by written interrogatories (;Tr. 322). 

30. The eleventh consumer witness offered by complaint counsel 
was l\frs. Streata Yarborough, a teacher in the second grade of the 
D.C. Public Schools. She tt'stifie.d as follows: In August 1965, she was 
residing at Colorado Springs, Colorado, with her husband, who vrns 
stationed at a nearby installation with the United States Army. One 
afternoon a man came to the door of their residence and introduced 
himself as a salesman for Standard Educators, Inc. The salesman 
came into the house and explained that he was selling yearbooks and,. 
if the Yarboroughs purchased the yearbooks, they would receive a 
set of encyclopedias, a Bible, two dictionaries or two volumes of a 
dictionary free. The salesman also stated that, if the Yarboroughs 
decided to purchase the yearbooks, they would be able to receive them 
for the next ten years (Tr. 3,22-23). Tlrn sale,sman stated that t,he 
cost of the yearbooks was $349.50. The witness told the salesman that 
slw and her husband ,Yt're not prepared to make a downpayment, 
a.nd rthe salesman told :them they cou]d make a downpayment as small 
as $5 (Tr. 325), and "* * * The salesman told us that the sale of the 
yearbook was for a limited period only and we should go ahead and 
accept it then because we would not be able to get it later" (Tr. 326). 
Mr. and Mrs. Yarborough signed a contract, w·hich was received in 
evidence as CX 26. Mrs. Yarborough re.ad the contrn,e.t be.fore she 
signed it. She did not pay the full amount of the contract "Because 
we did not receive any yearbooks or I did not receive any yearbooks" 
(Tr. 327-28). On cross-examination, l\frs. Yarborough· test.ified that 
she difl not, receive a te.lephone call from Standard Educators, Inc. 
following the signing of the contract and, to her knowledge, neither 
did hPr husband (Tr. 328-29). 

31. The twelfth consumer witness offered by complaint counsel was 
Mrs. ~fames Render, who g-tffe her present address as 8903 Hewitt, 
Garden Grove, California. Respondents' counsel then objected to any 
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testimony by this witness on the grounds that the witness list furnished 
by e,omplaint counsel to respondents li::::ted the address of Mrs. Render 
as 2002 Quincy Street, A pa.rtment 16, Orange, California, and for the 
further reason that respondents were denied the opportunity to take 
the deposition of Mrs. Render by written interrogatories, which de­
prived respondents of what they believe to be their right to ascertain 
the facts before the witness to.ok the stancl.2 Respondents' counsel re­
fused the offer of the hearing examiner to permit counsel to intervie,v 
the witness privately before she testified. Before ruling on the objec­
tion of respondents~ counsel with respect to the address of the ,vitness, 
the hearing examiner requested complaint c,ounsel to question the 
witness concerning her address. vVhen complaint counsel brought out 
from the witness that she moved to lwr pre!:xmt address at 8903 fiewitt, 
Garden Grov~, California, two weeks ago, and, prior to that time, 
resided at 2002 Quincy, in Orange, California, which was the address 
furnished to respondents' c.ounsel on May rn, 1970, for Mrs. Render, 
respondents~ counsel withdrew his objection to the testimony of Mrs. 
Render based on "incorrect" address, and let stand his objection based 
on Jack of deposition. Mrs. Render testified as follows: On ,January 16, 
H>67, l\fr. and l\frs. Render resided at 332 South Street, Portsmouth, 
New I-Tampshire, where her husband was stationed at Pease. Air Force 
Base, near Portsmouth, New Hampshire. Mr. Rendcr's rank at that 
time was Airman First Class in the United States Air Force. On that 
evening, between 6 :00 and 7 :00 p.m., a man appeared at the door of 
thPir apartment and the following events transpired: 

He iutrodneed him~!:'lf ns liPing from Stnnd:nd Ednr-ntnrs aud asked if lw (·ould 
SJl<-'Hk to us ahont buying n sPt of <'lH'.ydopedias. 

* * * * 'I' * 
Ile came into tlw liYing room and w.'ls tPllin~ 11s nhont the eneydopedias. nliont 

n s1.weial deal for Air I◄~orel~ 1wrstmnPl, and t1rnt WP W<>l'f' :-wleetNl from a gronv 
in this area, in UH.! area of ~l'W Hampshire. 

"' * * * ... * * 
Thirty days after W(' reePivc>cl the hooks, \YP \Y('rP snp11osed to write a page 

letter :-;tating; that Wt" lik(:'(l the ency<·love<lins au<l re<:·omm<•1Hled them for otlwr 
people to hny tlwm. I. This Jetter was to he sent to eorroratf' res1~ondeilt, Standard 
E«lucntors, Ine.] 

* * * * * * * 
He ~aid ,ve would IJt> vaying 3.!:)8 for 10 years, n month, for the yearbook and 

that we wonl<l n•t·eiYe the eucyclopedins and we \YOUl<l reeeive a ~et of two 
dietiounries, world atlrn,, Bible. and a Child Craft for free if we rmrehai,;(~l the 
yearbooks for 10 yeark. (Tr. 340-41.) 

2 Respondents' Appli('ations For Depositions upon ,vritten Interrogr..tories, filed June 9, 
Hl70, did not request to take the depo:;ition of l\Irs. He1Hler, hut sought to take the deposition 
of James .J. Rentlrr, lwr hush:rntl. 
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Mrs. Render's husband signed a contract, which was received in evi­
dence as CX 25. Before signing the contract, the salesman told the 
Renders that they would have to make a downpayment of $12 that 
evening or they could not get the books. Mrs. Render further testified 
that 

,ve asked if we could let. him know within a week, and the salesman informed 
ns we had to take it that evening or the discount price would not be availahle to 
us later than that. (Tr. 343.) 

Ten clays after signing the contract, the encyclopedias were received 
through the mail, but Mrs. Render did not receive a telephone call or 
letter requesting verificati.on of the contra.ct. Mr. and Mrs. Render 
have paid the full amount stipulated in the contract (Tr. 342--43). 
Respondents' counsel declined to cross-examine the,; witness on the 
grounds that he was denied permission to take the deposition of this 
witness by written interrogatories. 

32. The thirteenth •consumer lvit.ness called by complaint counsel 
was Mr. Robert E. I-I. Ferguson, who gave. his present •address as Box 
34, Route 1, Lake Placid, Florida. The address for Mr. Ferguson, 
which complaint connsel furnished to respondents' counsel on May 13, 
rn7o, pursuant to the hearing examiner's prehearing order, was 136 
"'\Vest J\foin Street, Apartment 4, Ayer, Massachusetts, ,vhich was Mr. 
Ferguson's ,address while stationed :at a school operated for the United 
States Army (Tr. 348). Subsequently, in January 1970, while sta­
tioned with the Army in southern Japan, Mr. Ferguson received a 
letter from complaint counsel requesting certain information, but, in 
his reply, Mr. Ferguson did not give complaint counsel any forward­
ing or return address (Tr. 3·45--47). Complaint counsel then communi­
cated with the Department of Defense seeking M:r. Ferguson's current 
service address •and was told that Mr. Ferguson was in .fapan and 
would be discharged from the service at the end of June 1970. Com­
plaint counsel then wrote a letter in early lune to Mr. Ferguson in care 
of an address in Louisiana, requesting that Mr. Ferguson communicate 
with complaint counsel. Mr. Ferguson received this letter in late June 
and telephoned complaint counsel and informed counsel where he was 
residing in Florida (Tr. 350). As soon as complaint counsel received 
this information, complaint counsel included it on a witness list for 
Mr. ,vilson, which complaint counsel hand-carried to Mr. "\Vilson's 
office on Ju":ne 27, 1970 (Tr. 350-51). The objection of respondents' 
counsel concerning the address of the witness was overruled, and the 
witness was permitted to testify. Mr. Ferguson testified as follows: 
On May 16, 1967, while in the United States Army and stationed at 
Fort Devens, Massachusetts, Mr. Ferguson resided on Main Street in 

https://contra.ct
https://verificati.on
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Ayer, l\fassachusetJts. On that day, ·a representative of Standard Edu­
cators, Inc. visited Mr. Ferguson's residence and stated that he had a 
new encyclopedia not yet on the market for public sale, which was 
being offered to servicemen prior to its being offered 'to the public. 
The price for the encyclopedias, including a bookcase and a choice 
o:f three or four sets of hooks, was around $300. If Mr. and Mrs. Fergu­
son pur·chased the encyclopedias, the money wasto be explicity for- the 
encyclopedias with a free gift set-of 'books and the bookcase (Tr. 360-
61). Mr. Ferguson further testified: 

* * * we \Vere supposed to write a letter of testimony after we recc~ived and 
inspf~cted the encyclorpeclias and the ·books •as to our appraisal ·of them to the 
company. 'rhis letter was to he a 1testimony letter 1t'O the comptany which we 
agreed they may use in their advertising campaign if they S'O desired. (Tr. 362.) 

Mr. Ferguson signed a contra-ct, which was received in evidence •as 
CX 24. Mr. and Mrs. Ferguson made a clownpayment of $5 and 
another $5 payment in July. Mr. Ferguson was to be sent Qverseas 
tmd h.is ·wife was moving to Louisiana to live with her_ mother:during 
his absence. T'he books were to be shipped to that ·address (Tr. 362). 
Subsequently, the hooks arrived, and Mr. Ferguson thereafter paid the 
agreed price (Tr. 363). l\ir. Ferguson further testified that, to his 
knowledge, neither he nor his ,vife received a telephone call or a letter 
from the corporate respondent requesting verification of the contract 
(Tr. i64). Respondents' counsel declined to cross-examine "for the 
grounds previously stated." After a brief recess, Mr. Ferguson was 
recalled and :further testified as follows: The price was a specia,l price 
for servicemen, and was being offered to Mr. Ferguson because 'he was 
a member.of the armed forces. 

* * * When he told us the price and the books whi•ch were free and rthe things 
that were included, which was a set of encyclopedias, which was very nice, I 
could not believe the price. We asked him about it, ancl he said it was because 
it was -p"art of itheir promotional thing. (Ti•. 367-68.) 

33. The fourteenth consumer witness called by complaint counsel 
was Mr. Michael G..Martin, who gave his present address ·as 1084 
J ~fferson 'Street, Vermilion, Ohio. Counsel for respondents objected 
to any testimony from Mr. 1\fartin on the grounds that respondents 
were not permitted to take the deposition of Mr. Martin by written 
interrogatories. The objection was overruled and the witness permitted 
to testify. nfr. :Martin testified as follows: In November 1966, Mr. 
:Martin was married, a member of the United States Navy, and living 
at Havre de Grace, Maryland (Tr. 370). One evening during No­
ve1nber of that y~a,r, a man came to the door of their ·apartment and 
stated that he had a free gift, and Mr. Martin permitted the man to 

(, 
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enter. The salesman displayed literature concerning the encyclopedias• 
children's Eet oJ books, a two-volume dirtionary, and a medical encyclo­
pecha. A free bookcase ·came with it. "* * * Our only oblig~ttion wa~ 
to buy yearbooks for 10 years, over a 10:.year· period" (Tr. 371). Tlw 
free gift that the ·salesman mentioned when he first entered their apart­
ment was the full set of encyclopedias, to be placed in the Martin 
apartment as an advertisement for friends and relatives (Tr. 371). 
The price of the yearbook for 10 yen rs was about $:'HD..50. 1\fr. :Martin 
signed a cont.met, ,vhirh was received in evidence as CX 29. Mr. Martin 
made a (lown payment of $!5.50 that evening, and the salesman came 
to their apartment about two weeks later nncl collected the other 
$6.fi0 (Tr. :n2). Subsequently, Mr. l\Iartin received a telephone call 
,vhilc at ,vork on the Navy base from a lady who requested verification 
of the contract w·hich he had signed. He stated: ,~ 

* * * A girl or a woman asl.:ed me if I had ordered these books. I told her 
I did. Rhf! n:-;kerl me if f'VPl"."tliing on tl1p <•1mtra<:t was true and correct to the 
best of my nhility, mHl I told her :n•s. (Tr. :373.) 

At the time ~fr. ~fnrtin executed the contrnc-t, he was 20 years oJ age 
an(l his wife eighteen. The books wcr<> d0lin•rcd, a.nd l\fr. and J\Irs. 
~Inrtin kept them nnti1 ::\fay o-f 1967 (Tr. :17;3). In lHay of 1967, l\fr. 
:Martin's mother-in~law sent the books ba('k to Stnndard Educators~ 
Tnc. 1 brcnnsc :\fr. and Mrs. :Martin could not afford them (Tr. 374). 
Hc.';pondcnts' conns0l refused to cross-examine l\fr. l\Iartin "on the 
grounds prcvionsly stated." At this point, cmnplaint counsel rested 
their direct case-in-chid (Tr. 37fl). 

34. The first witness who testifiNl in defense against the allegations 
of the complaint was l\fr.•Tames A. l\Ielley, S1·., president of Standard 
Educators, Inc., and an individna] J'('spondent herein. Mr. l\folley 
testified that he has been in the book bnsiness for 20 years, stal'ting as 
a sa1esman, and the steps he has taken as president of Standard Edu­
cators, Inc. to improve the bnsi11ess practices of corporate respondent, 
such as: eliminating the possibility of misreprese11ta.tion by its sales­
men (Tr. :380-84) ; the execution ancl submission to the Commission in 
,January 1969, of a signed Afiid~ffit and Assnmnce of Volnnt.ary Com­
pliance (RX fA-X; Tr. ;{Sf>; RX 2A-D; RX 3A-E; RX 4A-K) ; and 
revisions of its contract forms (RX 5A-D), including a provision for 
a three-day "cooling off" period, whereby a purchaser may n°'v cancel 
the contract which he or she has signed hy notifying Standard Edu­
cators, Inc. by certified mail within 72 hours after signing the con­
tract. Mr. Melley further testified as fo1lows: The corporate respondent 
was organized about April 1, 1957, and began with three salesmen 
and one office clerk, and has grown from $130,000 worth of business 
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the first year to more than $2,000,000 in sales during 1969 (Tr. 408), 
with about 20 people in the office, including 2 part-time employees, 
and about 50 salesmen (Tr. 419). Since the provision for the "cooling 
off" period of 72 hours became effective in corporate respondent's 
contracts in February 1969, 480 customers have taken advantage of 
this provision and have cancelled their contracts within the 72-hour 
period (Tr. 407). ·within l\fr. Melley's knowledge, corporate respond­
ent has never ·considered abandoning its corporate form for doing 
business (Tr. 409). Corporate respondent now makes a thoroughcheck 
before hiring salesmen, and requires that all salesmen file a written 
statement that they have read and will abide by the Trade Practice 
Rnles of the Federal Trade Commission (Tr. 423-24). 

35. M:r. Robert L. Atwood, vice president and general sales man­
ager of Sfandard Educators, Inc., was the second witness to testify 
on behalf of corporate. respondent. Mr. Atwood described the current 
procedures of corporate respondent in the hiring of salesmen'~and in 
checking out referen:ccs g-i ,·ei1 by prospective sales personnel, and iden­
tified a memorandum (RX 6) vd1ich he sent to all of corporate re­
spondent's regional sa.lcs managers on November 5, 1969. Currently, 
eorporate respondent requires all applicants for sales positions to sign 
an ·a.pplication form, giving his name, residence, pre,vious employer, 
social security number, and ~i. signed statement acknowledging that 
he has received a copy of the Trade Practice Rules of tlhe Federal 
Trade eomm.ission perta.jning to the book subscripition industry and 
a document setting out the responsibility of corporate respondent's 
salesmen (Tr. 427-28; RX A, B-29A, B). Mr. Ahvood also described 
the procedures follo,yed by corporate respondent a:t the present time 
a-ft.er signed contracts lrn:ve been received n.t the home office from sales­
men in the field, as follows: An attempt is mad-e to make a phone veri­
fieation with t,he husband who signed the contract, going over the 
items contained in the contract with him, and ascertaining if the in­
formation in the contract is corre-ct, etc. (Tr. 430). Mr. Atwood fur­
ther testified as follmvs: Prior to 1%7, Stanchrd Educ.a.tors, Inc. did 
not ve,rify all contracts, but at the present time corporate respondent 
attempts to do so either by telephone or by mail. If a contract has 
been verified, the fa.ct o-f verification is shown on the fa.cc of the con­
tract by the letters "0.K.," followed by the jnitia]s of the person who 
made t.h0 rnrification (Tr. ".VH-:32). The letters "0.IC" on ex 20 
followed by the initials "B.M." indicate that the contract was verified 
by Barbara. Melley. The contract, ex 18 (signed by Mr. Bryant) 
and receivecl by cor:porate respondent from l\ir. Letson in Hawaii was 
not verified (Tr. 432). ex 21 was verified and bears the leJtters "0.K." 



884 FEDERAL TRADE COMMLSS]ON D,ECISTONS 

Initial Decision 79 F.T.C. 

and the initials "B.M." CX 22 was not verified. CX 23 was verified, 
and CX 24 and 25 were not verified (Tr. 435). CX 26, was verified. CX 
27 and 28 were not verified (Tr. 436). CX 29 was verified (Tr. 437). 

36. Mr. Atwood estimated tha.t he had made approximately 80 or 
90 saJes for corporate respondent since 1966, but could not remember 
the dates of e.ach transa.dtion. However, he was able to ascertai1:i the 
name of the sa.Jesman who made each sale by examining the contract. 
Ea.ch contract of corporate respondent contains the name of the sales­
man who-sold the contract (Tr. 438-39). Mr. Atwood made the sale 
to Mr. Robert E. H. Ferguson, repre:sented hy tihe contract dated 
May 16, 1967 (CX 24; Tr. 441). (This is the same Robert E. H. 
Ferguson who testified as a Commission witness and whose testimony 
is set ouit in Paragraph 32 hereof). Mr. Atwood remembered his in­
terview a.t Mr. Ferguson's apartment in Ayer, Massachusetts, and 
denied making a, statement 1to Mr. and Mrs. Ferguson that he repre­
sentecl Standard Educators, Inc., from Chicago (Tr. 442). Mr. Atwood 
testified that he told lV[r. and Mrs. 1~..,ergnson that Standard Educa­
tors, Inc., of East Ha.rtford, Oonnecticut sold an educaitional program 
consisting of an encyclopedia with other material at a cost of ap­
proximately $2DV.f>O, and allowed Mr. Ferguson to make the first two 
mail payments of $5 per month, and the balnnce: of t:he a.ecount at $25 
per month (Tr. 442--45). Mr. Atwood made some circles around cer­
tain numbers on the contract so as to indicate that he had gone over 
the contract with J\fr. Ferguson (Tr. 445-46). Mr. Atwood testified 
that he did not tell M:r. Ferguson that the new Standard Encyclopedia 
was a. ne,v one not yet ·on tihe ma,rket, and did not ten Mr. Ferguson 
that any of t:he books in the offer were free (Tr. 451). Mr. Atwood 
denied that he told Mr. Ferguson t:ha.t the offer was a specia1 price 
availruble only to servicemen (Tr. 452). 

37. Mr. Atwood testified further as follows: App1~oximately one 
month following the sa.Je of the encyclopedias to tifr. Ferguson, Mr. 
Atwood made a courtesy call at Mr. and Mrs. Ferguson's apartment 
andreceived a hospitable ·welcome. J\fr. Ferguson advised Mr. Ahvood 
t.ha.t he had been inte,rroga.ted by a representative of the Federal Trade 
Commission (Tr. 453). In February 1D60, Standard Educators, Inc., 
made su:bstantia1 revisions in its contract form, deleting the words 
"legal age" ~1nd "combination offer," adding a 72-hour "cooling off" 
period, and adding a provision to the effect t.lrn.t no oral promise or 
statement by the salesman ·would be binding on Standard Educators, 
Ine., unless expre,ss1y included and written in the contract. 1'1rn words 
"NOTHING IS FREE" wel"e added to the contract form in large 
letters. Tihe 'i\·orcljng of the provision relating to the $3.95 ch:1rge for 
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yearly supplements to the encyclopedias was reworded so as to pro­
vide that the cusltomer should remit $3.95 directly to the publisher of 
the encyclopedias in Chica.go, which is the annual accommodation 
price (Tr~ 454). 

38. On cross-examination, Mr. Atwood testified as follows: He has 
been in the business of selling books and encyclopedias for approxi­
mately 17 years, and graduated from Trinity College, Hartford, 
Connecticut, in 1954 (Tr. 456). While attending college, Mr. Atwood 
sold magazines for Mr. MeJley, who was at that time the sales manager 
for P. F. Collier &Son for the sale of magazines in the Ha1tford ,area. 
l\Ir. Atwood began work for Standard Educators, Inc., at the time of 
its organization by Mr. Melley in April 1957. Mr. Atwood jg the general 
sales manager for Standard Educators, Inc., -and !became its vice presi­
dent in :March of 1967 (Tr. 458-59). Following the testimony of Mr. 

_ Atwood, respondents' counsel moved for the production of ·aU,:corre­
spondence and telephone memor::mcla 'between complaint counsel and 
all prospective wjtnesses named on the ,vitness list filed 'by complaint 
counsel on 1\,fay 13, 1970, and ,..,,hich related to the address of the 
witnesses, except wjth respect to the witness Mrs. Taylor, ,vhich was 
requested and produced at the time she testified (Tr. 4G7-470). Re­
spondents' motion was denied (Tr. 472), and en.ch counsel rested their 
respective cases. 

3D. It is thus seen that respondents offered rebuttal testimony as to 
only one consumer witness, Mr. Hobert E. H. Ferguson, who ,,yas the 
thirteenrth consumer witness and whose testimony is set out in Para­
graph 32 herein. Jfr. Rdbert L. Atwood, ,a vjce president and general 
sales manager of Standard Educators, Inc., denied some of the testi­
mony given by l\.fr. Ferguson. The testimony of the other consumer 
witnesses, especiaHy that of Mrs. Linda J. Olson, lHrs. Jacqueline "\Vi,lt, 
:Mrs. Catherine 'Taylor, Mr. Bruce David Campbell, l\frs. April Maillet, 
l\Ir. Larry Edward Riggs, Mr. Fred J. Bryant, Jr., Mrs. Streata 
Yarborough, Mrs. James Render, and l\fr. Michael G. Martin remains 
unrebutted in the record. 

40. Upon the basis of the entire record, and expressly excluding the 
testimony of Mr. Gary G. Broach, the. hearing examiner finds that the 
a1Jegations of the complaint, including snbp'-uagraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 
of Paragraphs Six and Seven thereof, have been established by a 
p1·epo11dera.nce o-f the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence., ~nd 
that the statements :p1<l representations as alleged in Paragraph Six 
of the compfaint, and established by the e\·idenee and tcst.imony, are 
false, misleading, and deceptive. 

(, 
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41. The use by respondents of the aforesaid false, misleading, and 
dccepti ve statements i:u1d representations has had, a.nd now has, the 
capacity and tendency to mislead members of the purchasing public 
into the mistaken and erroneous 1belief that such statements and repre­
sentations were and are true, ..rnd to enter into contracts for the pur­
chase of respondents' products because of such erroneous and mistaken 
Lclief. 

CONCLUSIONS 

It is concluded that the aforesaid acts and practices of the respond­
ents, as found herein, were, and are, to the prejudice and injury of the 
public, and of respondents' competitors, and constituted, and now 
constitute, unfaii- methods of competition in comm~rce and unfair 
and deceptive acts and practices in commerce, in viofotion of Section 
5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act. This proceeding is iri the 
public interest. 

Respondents object to the request by con1plaint counsel that an 
order to cease and desist be issued aga,inst the respondent ~James A. 
Melley, Sr., individually, as well as against t.l1e offi.c.ers of corporate 
respondent. Complaint counsel do not point to any evidence-and 
there is none in the record-that Mr. Melley committed any illegal act 
in his individual capacity, or that Mr. Melley is likely to v·io1ate the 
Act in the future in his incli\·jdual capacity, or that he will attempt 
to evade any -order which may be issued against the col'porate r.~sponcl­
ent. Complaint counsel's sole basis for request,ing an order against. 
Mr. i\Ielley, individnally, is the allegation in the complaint and rmm­
sel's clai1n that l\.fr. :Melley "formulates, directs and controls the acts 
and practices" of corporate respondent. Even so, there is no evidence 
in the record that Mr. l\felley fotrnulates, directs and controls the 
acts and practices of corporate respondm1t in any capacity otlwr thnn 
as an officer of corporate respondent. As a matter of fact, in his ans,,;·er 
to the compla,int, Mr. l\felley specifically denied the alle.gation that 
he (J\fr. Melley) formulates, directs and controls the acts and pra:'­
tic.es of corporate n~spondent.. In the case of The LoN1ble Co.~ FTC 
Docket No. 8620 [67 F.T.C.1326 a.t 1336, (HW5)], which is controlling 
here, the Commission held: 

In the case of the applicability of the order to the indiddual resvonclents. 
we feel that respondPnts' nrp:umPnt has merit. 1'here is nothing- in the record 
jllstifying a 011 assumption by the Commis:-:ion that these indiYidual respon<1t>nts 
might in the fnture vi01a tp ~edion 2 ( rl) in fhc-ir hulirid11al crtpnci.fics. Respond­
ents admit only that the indiYidnal res1)0ndents formulate, direct •and control 
the policies, acts and praetiees of l"PSl)Ondent corporation. There is nD wanaut 
in the reeord for finding- that they do any of thPse things exePpt in tlwi r eapadtit's 

(, 
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as officers. To justify naming an officer as an individual there must ue something 
in the record suggesting Urn t he would ue likely to engage in these pi-actices 
in the future as an individual. To argue otherwise would be to hold that in every 
order running against a corporation the officers who control its policies, acts and 
practices should ue named. If acts are cloi1e as an officer they are done for the 
corporate respondent, and the order against the corporation will run against 
the officer as officer. 'l'hat is all that is required in this case on this record. 
(Emphasis in original.) 

In Flotill Products, Inc. v. F.T.C., 358 F. 2d 224,233 (9th Cir. 1966), 
[8 S. & D. 69 at 80-81], where the hearing examiner had dismissed the 
complaint against the Flotill officers in their individual capacities since 
there was nothing to indicate that the individual respondents vrnuld 
cause an evasion of any order which might be entered against the 
corporation, but the Commission had entered an order including 
the officers in their individual capacities on no other fact than that 
the three individuals owned and controlled the corporate respoJ1dent, . 

- the Court held that the Commission had abused its discretion i11 fram­
ing the order to include the officers in their individual capacitief?. The 
Court said that the so-called "alter ego" doctrine (that the corporation 
is merely the alter ego of the individuals) had no support in the 
record, and 

* * * tlrn order points to no evidence to challenge the findings of the hearing 
examiner that the corporate entity has ever ueen used in such a way as to 
jnstify treating it as the "altei· ego" of its owners. ,ve agree with petitioners 
that naming them individually in the order is tantamount to a finding ou 
the evidence that they have personally violated, or can ue expected to violate, 
the Clayton Act. vVe have not been shown the evidence in the record, if any 
there he, which supports such a conclusion. Aceordingly, the Commission order 
to he (:'nforced should not refer to the petitioners in their individual capacities. 
Authority for such deletion is to he found in Coro, Inc. v. F.'l'.C., 338 F. 2d 
149 (1st Cir. 1964) and Ray(:'x Corp. v. F.T.C., 317 F. 2d 290 (2d Cir. 1963). 

Here, the evidence shmYs that the corporate respondent is and has been 
a stable one since its organization by Mr. Melley in 1957. There is no 
evidence of record to indicate that the corporate entity is a sham or that 
Mr. Melley organized the corporation in an attempt to evade any order 
which may be issued by the Federal Trade Commission against the 
corporate respondent. For all of these reasons, and upon the basis of 
the entire record, it is concluded that an order should not be issued 
naming Mr. Melley as an individual. 

ORDER 

It is ordered, That respondent Standard Educators, Inc., a corpora­
tion, and its officers, representatives, agents and emp1oyees, directly 
or through any corporate or other device, in connection· with the 

470-883-73--57 
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advertising, offering for sale, sale or distribution of encyclopedias, 
books or publications or supplements in connection there-with or any 
other article of merchandise, in commerce, as "commerce" is defined in 
the Federal Trade Commission Act, do forthwith cease and desist 
from: 

A. Representing, directly or by implication: 
1. That respondent's representatives or salesmen are con­

ducting an advertising campaign; or that the purpose of the 
call or interview by respondenCs representatives or salesmen 
is other than to sell encyclopedias, books, publications or sup­
plements or services with respect thereto. 

2. That purchasers may obtain a set of the New Standard 
Encyclopedia free, or at a reduction in price, 1perely by writ­
ing a letter of recommendation therefor, or an opinion there­
on, displaying the product or keeping it up to date, or that 
any of the books sold by the respondent may be obtained by 
any means, other than the payment of respondent's then 
current price. 

3. That any price at which respondent's books or publica­
tions are offered for sale is a spec-in.I or reduced price, unless 
such price constitutes a substantial reduction from the price 
at which such publications were sold in substantial quantities 
for a reasonably substantial period of time by the respondent 
in the recent regular course of its business; or representing 
that any price is an introductory price. 

4. That the opportunity to purchase rcspondent1s books at 
a special introductory, special or reclnced price is not avail­
able to the public generally; or that the purchasers of re­
spondent's books area specially selected group. 

5. That certain books are given "free" with purchase of 
respondent's combination offer; or that purchasers from 
respondent of any combination offer only pay for part of such 
books. 

6. That the payment of $3.95 or any other amount for 
respondent's annual yearbook or any other similar publica­
tion is an amount for handling and postage. unless such stated 
amount is no more than the actual cost of the handling and 
postage. 

7~ That respondent's offer of books or other publications is 
limited as to time. 

1L Falsely representing, in any manner, that savings are avail­
able to purchasers or prospective purchasers of respondent's 
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products; or misrepresenting, in any manner, the amount of sav­
ings available to purchasers or prospective purchasers of respond­
ent's products. 

It i8 fitr'ther onlered, That the respondent herein shall, in connec­
tion with the offering for sale, the sale, or distrib-t:1tion of encyclopedias, 
books, or publications or supplements in connection therewith or any 
other article of merchandise, when the offer for sale or sale jg made in 
the buyer's home, forthwith cease and desist from: 

(1) Contracting for any sale whether in the form of trade ac­
ceptance, conditional sales contract, promissory note, or otherwise 
which shall become binding on the buyer prior to midnight of the 
third day, excluding Sundays and legal holidays, after date of 
execution. 

(2) Failing to disclose, orally prior to the time of sale and in 
writing on -any trade acceptance, conditional sales contract, 
promissory note or other instrument exec11te.d by the buyer with 
such conspicuousness and clarity as likely to be observed and read 
by such buyer, that the buyer may rescind or cancel the sale by 
directing or rnai1ing a notice of cancellation to respondent's ad­
dress prior to midnight of the third day, excluding Sundays and 
legal holidays, after the elate of the sale. Upon such cancellation 
the burden shall be on respondent to collect any goods left in 
buyer's home and to return any payments received from the buyer. 
Nothing contained in this right-to-cancel provision shall relieve 
buyers of the responsibility for taking reasonable care of the 
goods prior to cancellation and during a reasonable period fol­
lowing cancellation. 

(3) Failing to provide a separate and clearly nnclerstanclable 
form which the buyer may use as a notice of cancellation. 

(4) Provided, hoiuwoer, That nothing contained in th is pnrt of 
the order shall relieve respondent of any mlditional -obligations 
respecting contracts made in the home required by federal law or 
the law of the state in whjcl1 the contract is made. ,v1ie11 such 
obligations are inconsistent respondent can npp]y to the Com­
mission for relief from this provision with respect to contracts 
executed in the state in which such different obliga,tions a.re re­
quired. The Commission, upon proper showing, shall make such 
modifications as may be ,varranted in the premises. 

It i8 further ordered, That the respondent herein shall forthwith 
deliver a copy of th)s order to cease and desist to all present and future 
salesmen or other persons engaged in the sale of respondent's products 
or services, and shall secure from each such salesman or other person a 
signed statement acknowledging receipt of said order. 
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It is fudlwr o·rderecl, That respondent notify the Commission at 
least thirty (30) days prior to any proposed change in the corporate 
respondent, such as dissolution, assignment or sale resulting in the 
emergence of a successor corporation, the creation or dissolution of 
subsidiaries or any other change in the corporation which may affect 
compliance obligations arising out of this order. 

FINAL ORDER 

This matter having been heard by t.he Commission upon respondent 
St.nndnnl Educators' appeal from the initial decision, and upon com­
plaint counseFs appeal from that part of the initial decision dismissing 
as a respondent, ,James A. Melley, Sr., and npon hrie-fs ftlld oral argu­
ment in support thereof and in opposition thereto; and 

The Commission having concluded that on this record and the facts 
and circumstances set forth therein, it is necessary to hold respondent 
,James A. I\Ielley, Sr., a party to this proceeding and that the order 
should be dfrccted against him both as an officer of the corporation and 
as an individual; 

It-is ordered: 
(1) That the initial decision he, and it hereby is, adopted as the de­

cision of the Commission to the extent consistent w·ith, and rejected 
to the extent inconsistent with, the accompanying opinion; 

(2) That the follmving paragraph be, and it hereby is, substituted 
for the initial paragraph of the order contained in the initial decision: 

It 1'.s ordered, That respondents, Standard Educators, Inc., a 
corporation, and its officers, successors or assigns, and James A. 
Melley, Sr., individually and as an officer of said corporation, and 
respoudents' representatives, agents and employees, directly or 
through any corporate or other device, in connection with the ad­
vertising, offering for sale, sale or distribution of encyc1opedias. 
books or publications or supplements in connection therewith or 
any other article of merchandise, in commerce, as "commerce'' is 
defined in the Federal Trade Commission Act, do forthwith cease 
and desist from : ; 

(3) That the word"respondents" he, and it hereby is, substituted for 
the word "respondent" wherever it appears in the order contained in 
the initial decision, and that the word "respondents'" be similarly sub­
stituted for the vmrd "respondent's;" 

(4) That the order contained in the initial decision, modified as 
hrrcin provided, be, and it hereby is, adopted as the order of the 
Commission. 

(; 
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It is furtlie'l' ordered, That respondents shall, within sixty ( 60) clays 
after service upon them of this orde.r, file ,vith the Commission a report, 
in ,vriting, setting forth in detail the manner and form in which they 
lrnve complied with the order to cease and desist. 

OrrNION OF THE CoMl\nssrnN 

DECEMBER G, 1971 

BY JoNEs, Oomnii8sioneP: 

In January 1970, the Commission :fi]ed a complaint against Stand­
ard Educators, a corporation, and James A. Melley, Sr., as inclivichrnl 
and oflicer of said corporation, charging viola6ons of Sectiq_n 5 of the 
Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. Section £1;'5 ( 19G4), in the 
door-to-door sale of encyclopedias through the use of rnrious false 
and deceptive statements relating to the terms and conditions in the 
sa]e of books.1 

The complaint charged that respondents made many false and 
deceptive statements and representations concerning the offer and price 
of their books, the manner of payment and the legal responsibility of 
prospective purchasers who contract for these purchases. Essential1y, 
the complaint charged that: 

1. Respondents misrepresented to prospective purchasers that re­
spondents were engaged in a national achertising campaign and were 
offering a set of the New Standard Encyclopedia "free" or at n, special 
or reduced price to specially selected persons who \Yotdd endorse the 
products by displaying the books in their homes and agree to keep 
the encyclopedia up-to-date for 10 years through the purchase of the 
annnal yearbook (Compl. paras. 6(1)-(2), 7(1)-(2)); 

2. Respondents misrepresented to prospective purchasers that cer­
tain books in the combination offer were included free of cost and that 
this special introductory offer ,;as limited to the time of the call 
(Compl. paras. H(3)-(4). 7(3)-(4) ). 

Respondents denied the allegations and the matter proceeded to 
hearing on July 7, 1970. The hearing examiner concl rnled thnt the 
allegations had been proven with respect to the corporate rcspon<.h~nt 
but determined that it was not necessary to enter an order against 
Mr. Melley in his individual capacity and that the complaint agn.inst 
him should be dismissed. 

1 The following abhreviations will he used for citations: Traw~cript of procee,llngs, 
"Tr."; complaint counsel's exhibits, "CX ;" and Examiner's Initial Decision. "ID." Rriefs 
of either the responuent (Res.) or complaint counsel (C.C.) will he cite<1 ~~s follows: 
Brief on nppeaJ, "App. Br.;" answrring brief, "Ans. Br.;" :rn<l rPply brief, "Hrp. Br." 
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In its appeal, respondent 2 does not challenge the findings and con­
clusions of the examiner with respect to the factual basis underlying 
the allegations of violation. Rather, respondent rests its appeal on 
these principal contentions: 

1. I1espondent contends that evidence secured by the Commission 
investigator in 1967 was in violation of the Fourth Amendment and 
that the hearing examiner committed error in failing to order the 
production of memoranda in the Commission's files dealing :with the 
allegedly illegal investigation; 

2. Respondent contends that its right to cross-examine was curtailed 
and, therefore, it was denied due process in the course of the hear­
ing because: (a) counsel supporting the complaint :failed to make 
timely delivery to it of the final witness list with corre:6t addresses as 
reqnirccl by pre-trial order, nnd (b) the hearing examiner re.fused to 
grant respondent's request for depositions on written interrogatories; 

3. Respondent challenges the propriety of the entry of an order 
against it because of alleged errors on the pa.rt of the examiner in 
rejecting evidence ·with respect to the claimed ruinous effect of one 
of the order provisions and for lack of public interest because of the 
alleged abandonment by respondent of the practices complained of. 

,ve will d<.'al with each of these contentions ser·iathn. 

I. 

TJII~ PARTICIPATION OJ,, RESPONDENT JAMES A. MELLEY, SR. 

The examiner- found that the respondent Standard Educators, Inc., 
had been organized by respondent lames A. Melley, Sr., in April rn57 
(ID :3). Melley had been a salesman in tho hook and magazine indns­
try sinee H)4-5 and organized Standard Educators when he decided 
to go into business for himself (Tr. 116-17). 

Melley did all the work, including the filing of legal documents 
rn·cPssary to begin operations. He personally made the arrangements 
with the publishers, drafted the incorporation papers and mortgaged 
his home to raise the needed money (Tr. 117-18). Melley, his wife 
(Margaret) and his father ·were the incorporators (Tr. 119). The 
officers of Standard Educators in 1957 were: .Tames A. Melley, presi­
dent and treasurer; J\fargaret Melley, vice president and secretary; 
nrul .James ':.:'.\. ~fellPy, Sr. ( respondent's father), -assistant secrc->tary 
and assistant trea!Surer (Tr. 119; ID 3). The respondent owned 51 

~ Throughout this opinion, whenever the term "respondent" is m;;erl in the singular, it 
rrfrrs to thP eorporate re,,pondent arnl uot respomlPnt Melley in his individual capacity, since 
onb· the corporate respondent has appealed the examiner's decision. 
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percent of the stock, his wife 46 percent and his father 3 percent 
(Tr.122; ID 3). 

M.elleis title in the corporation and his share of stock ownership 
have remained unchanged to the present.3 Melley continues as presi­
dent of the corporation, although the officers and the board have been 
reconstituted.4 

In the early years of Standard Educators' formation, Mr. Melley 
,vith the aid of two other salesmen did the selling himself. His wi:fe 
did the clerical work in the office (Tr. 125). All of the expertise in 
putting the business together and in determining the pattern of its 
operations was Melley's (Tr. 117, 19-92, 458, 126; ID 4). He set the 
1·etail price structure and sales techniques for the business and de­
termined what options would he included in the combination offer 
(Tr. 126, 145). He devised the contract form which ·was used by 
Standard Educators as part of the alleged misrepresentatio,t1s and 
deceptive sales practices which the examiner found to have taken 
place here (Tr.149; CX 18). 

Standard Educators' business has grown considerably since 1957. 
In 1957, with three salesmen, including Melley, and one clerical assist­
ant in the office, Standard Educators grossed about $130,000 (Tr. 408). 
In 19G9, with about 20 people in the office and some 50 salesmen, 
Standard Educators grossed over $2 million (Tr. 408, 420). In the 
past three years alone, Standard Educators has employed over 500 
salesmen (Tr. 135). 

J\felley's role as founder and chief executive officer of the corporation 
over the years is best summarized in the following exchange during 
l\folle-y's testimony at the hearing: 

Q. \Vhat are your duties as president of this corporation? 
A. My duties-I don't st>Plll to lrnve too many duties auy more to he frank with 

you. 
Q. ·what were your duties? 1Vhen you established this cor1loration, what were 

your <lnties? 
A. To sell and help train veople, other people, mostly to stay in the business, 

initially. 
Q. What did you do to stay in business? 
A. I went ont and wrote bnsiness myself. 
HEARING EXAMINER PoINDEXTEn. What do you do now? 

:i Stock ownership did change in 1!)58 with respect to the 3 percent owned hy l\felley's 
father. This 3 percen,t is now ownerl hy his son, James A. Melley, .Tr. In 19ri8, .Tames A. 
l\fellPy, Sr., respondent's father, died and his stock was passeu to Melley's mother. Mrs. 
l\[elley. Sr. died in 1962, at which time the respondent's son inherited her 3 percent 
('.rr. 122). 

·1 l\In;. :Mf'lley remains a 0 director, hut now sPrve,: only as SPCretary . .Tames A. MellPy, .Tr., 
now serves as assistant secreta1·y and assistant treasurer, and Robert Atwood a former 
f':tlPsrnnn for the company has been promoted to vice president and member of the board 
('l'r. 124; ID 3). 
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A. Now I go to the office and I cheek with the sales manager to see how things 
are going ; and I check with the office manager to see how things are going. I 
check with the collection manager to see how things are going in that department, 
and I check my collections each day to see how much money •Comes in, and I 
check to see how much money is being spent, and I check the quality of the 
business from time to time. I ask if there is [sic] any problems. 

HEARING ExAMINER POINDEXTER. If there are ,vhat do you do? 
A. Then I discuss it lrith the people involved. I never interfere in the office. 

** * * * * * 
HEARING EXAMINER POINDEXTER. Do you haYe a 1111:-;:-;~ Does the company 8tan<l­

ard Educators? 
A. Have a boss? ,veu, I mean, I am the president of the company; I am sup-

posed to be the boss. 
Q. Do you act as the boss? 
A. Oh, I act as the boss when the opportunity affords itself. ,jTr. 146-4'8.) 

The record· is clear that l\fr. Melley himself no longer engages in 
any selling duties (Tr. 137) .5 It is also clear that Mr. Melley is still 
the principal moving force behind the operations of the corporation­
the only other officers actively employed bejng Atwood, Melley's sales 
manager, and 1\1:elley's son, one of Standard Educators' salesme.n. 

The examiner based his dismissal of Mr. Melley as an individnal 
respondent on his conclusion thnt there was no evidence that ~Ir. 
:Melley personally committed any megal act in his individual capacity, 
that the record contained no evidence that Melley "formulates, directs 
and controls the acts and practices of corporate respondent in any 
capacity other than as an officer," and that no evidence was introduced 
to show that the corporate respondent ,vas a, sham or organized in 
order to evade a Federal Trade Commission order (ID 2H-iH). There­
fore, the examiner concluded that the complaint must be dismissed 
as respects Mr. l\felley. 

,Ye do not agree. There is no snpport either in fact or in J;nv for 
the examiner's conclusion. The record amply supports the complaint's 
allegations that respondent :Melley formulates, directs and controls 
the acts and practices of the corporate respondent, including the a<'ts 
and practices alleged in the complaint, and that an oi·der against ~Ir. 
Melley is necessary in order to achieve effective relief in this case. 

The evidence shows that l\Ielley meets all of the standards for deter­
mining individual liability in Federal Trade Commission proceedings. 
Fred L1leye1;, Inc. v. FTC, ;159 F. 2d 351 (9th Cir. 19Gfi). In Fred :.11eyer, 
the court of appea]s sustained the Commission's decision to hold two 

6 The hearing examiner summarized the role of l\Ielley as follows: 

As the business of the respondents has grown antl increased, l\1r. l\Ielle;\· no longer 
participates in. door-to-door selling and now spends l1is time in the office supervising the 
overall operation of Stanuard Educators, Inc. (l\:Ielley, Tr. 146--48). (ID 5.) 
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officers of the corporate respondent liable in their individual capacities, 
based on the following considerations : (1) respondents owned and 
controlled the closely held, family corporation; ( 2) they set the 
policies and reviewed the practices of the corporation; and (3) they 
knew of and authorized the alleged illegal practices. 

Freel 11/eyer involved violations of Sections 2(a) and 2(f) of the 
Clayton Act in connection with the nse of a "coupon book promotion." 
The individual respondents were Freel G. Meyer, chairman of the 
board of directors of the corporation, and Earle A. Chiles, president. 
Neither party owned a majority of the corporate stock, but in com­
bination with their immediate families, they owned almost all of the 
common voting stock. 

The Commission concluded that under such circnmstances,;the cor­
poration was the "alter ego" of the individual respondents and that this 
justjfied subjecting them to the order, otherwise it could be easily cir­
cumvented. Fred llfeye1·, Inc., 63 F.T.C. 1, 70-1 (1963). The court of 
appeals affirmed the Commission's conclusion and noted :further, as did 
the Commission in its opinion, that "Meyer was originally responsible 
for instituting the coupon book promotion," and that "Chiles hirnsplf 
testified that 'we set the policies and review the practices'" of the com­
pany. 059 F. 2d at 368. 

A key issue ii1 the case before the Commission Vi'aS whether Meyer, in 
fact, knew of and authorized the unlawful promotion. In his test.imony 
Meyer stated that: 

[I-I] e had been in the industry r.o ,vears; tlia t he had llePn president until 4 or 5 
years ago; that his "duties are Yagne", that he has "no sveeific duties;" that he 
now ha8 nothing to do with advertising or sale policies (he was active in them 
nutil about 10 years •ago) ; that he doesn't know hO'w many lrnyers the company 
has***. Ga :F'.T . .C. at 71. 

The Commission found that the respondent would not have per­
mitted the challenged promotion to continue if he had 11.ot personally 
apprnve<l it. The court agreed, finding that "despite Meyer's denials 
o-f knmvledge of the operations of the business, the Commission was 
justified in concluding that 'if a majority of Portland's 120,000 families 
,vere apprised of the detai]s of these programs, we think it is fair in­
ference that the Chairman of the Board a]so knows about them'~'* *." 
Hi>D F. 2d at 368 ( footnote omitted). 

The facts critical to a finding of individual liability in F1·ed llfeyer 
are also present i1; the instant case. Standard Educators is a closely 
held, family corporation. Respondent Melley owns a majority of the 
corporate stock, and is both the chairman of the board of directors and 
president of the corporation (in these respects, Melley would appear 
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to have even greater control over the corporate entity than Meyer ·who 
owned less than a majority of the stock and was not president of the 
corporation). The only other major owner of Standard Educators is 
Mrs. Melley, who apparently has no role in the management. of the 
business. The other active officers are Atwood, \Yho owns no stock, and 
Melley's son, who owns only 3 percent of the stock. Melley thus emerges 
as the principal fig·ure in terms of management and control of the 
corporation. 

Further, it is evident from the record that 1\folley formulates and 
directs the policies and practices of the corporation, although he 
specifically denied this allegation in his answer to the complaint. 

The examiner found that l\:follcy continues to supervise the over-all 
operation of Standard Educators (ID 5). 1\Ielley's,:own testimony 
reveals that he acts as "the boss," and regn larly supervjses the corpo­
rate business and that problems which arise are brought to him for 
resolution (Tr. 146-48). He personally oversees the corporation's 
price list and pricing strncture to keep it updated (Tr. 145). Further, 
he is largely responsible for the preparation of the contracts used by 
Standard Educators (Tr.149, 162). 

Although Melley no longer trains salesmen himself, he does the 
hiring of sales manag~rs who in turn hire the salesmen (Tr. 148, 1D5-
96). In fact, Melley himself hired the sales rnanage,r responsibh~ for 
the contract with complaint counsel's witness, Fred Bryant, and Melley 
personally accepted that contract (Tr. 149; CX 18). On the ihasis 
of this evidence it is fair to conclude that Mr. Melley formnlat.es and 
directs the corporate policies and practices to a sufficient extent to 
,Yarrant including him in the -Commission's order. 

Further, it is clear from the record, that J\fr. Melley knew o:f and 
approved many of the clmllenged practices. He admitted that he 
personally developed the form contract used by Standard Educators' 
salesmen in the period covered by the litigation (Tr. 149). "'\Ve find 
that this contract was an integral part of the deceptive sales practices 
challenged in the complaint, and that Me11ey's development of the 
contract, which ·was so closely tied to these illegal practices, makes it 
obvious that he was not unaware of the sale.s tactics of his salesmen and 
that he approved their use. 

The contract called for the purchaser to agree to "cooperate with 
{Standard ~ducators] in [its] National P1·ogram in expressing my 
opinion of the New Standard Encyclopedia.'' (CX 18.) This contract 
provision gave support to the alleged misrepresentations by respond­
ent's salesmen that Standard Educators was conducting a national 

https://formnlat.es
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advertising campaign in which specially selected persons would ob­
tain encyclopedias at a reduced price in return for their endorsement 
of the :books. Further, the contract was specifically designed for sales 
to inilitary · personnel, with spaces provided to collect information 
on name, rank, serial number, and duty station. These provisions 
correspond to the deceptive sales pitch that the offer was a special 
introductory offer for a specially selected group, i.e., members of the 
Armed Forces. In addition, the contract referred to the sale as part 
of the "National Combination offer," which corresponds to the al­
leged deceptions by salesmen that purchasers would pay less than 
the full price for each book when the "combination'~ of books ,vas 
purchased. And finally, the contract provided that n. charge of $3.D5 
would be made each year "for delivery" of an extension se.rvice and 
binder, which corresponds to the sales pitch that the additional cost 
,vas merely for postage and handling charges (CX 18, 20-2!)). 

In our opinion, the contract designed by Melley strongly suggests 
that the salesmen ,vere authorized to sell encyclopedias in the cle­
ceptive manner charged, since it.is unlikely that such contracts could 
be supplied for any other purpose. In our view, therefore, the evidence 
amply supports the conclusion that Melley personally was aware of 
and approved the sales practices of his salesmen and :that the examiner 
erred in his conclusion that there was no evidence of personal in­
volvement by Melley. It was unnecessary to find that :Melley himself 
engaged in the door-to-door selling misrepresentations, or that he 
personally trained the salesmen in these techniques. St{J,elco Sta·inl(>,88 
Steel v. F1'0, 187 F. 2d 6!)3 (7th Cir. 1951); Sebmne Oo. v. FTO, 
1~15 F. 2d 676 (7th Cir. 1943). 

In dismissing the complaint against Mr. Melley, the examiner indi­
cated that there was no evidence that the corporate respondent was 
a sham or organized to evade a Commission order. "\Ve do not believe 
such evidence is necessary to hold an individual as a party respondent.. 
In FT'ed illeyer there was no finding that the corporation was a sham, 
nor has a similar finding been considered a requisite. to individual 
liability in other cases. See Standard Distrib-uton, Inc. v. FTO, 211 
F. 2d 7 (2nd Cir. 1954) ; Benr-its Watch Oo., Inc. v. FTC, 352 F. 2d 
313 (8th Cir. 1965), ce'J"t. denied, 384 U.S. 939 (1966); Oont11, Bros. 
Gorp., FTC Docket No. 8697 [72 F.T.C. 1] (.July 11, 1967). 

The rationale for subjecting respondents in their individual capac­
ities to Commiss1on orders is to assure that such orders will be fully 
effective in preventing the unlawful activities. However, it is not 
necessary to find specifically that a respondent intends to violate the 

(, 
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Commission's order in his individual capacity. In Coran Bros. Corp., 
FTC Docket No. 8697 (luly 11, 1967); [72 F.T.C. 1 at 24-25], the 
Commission stated : 

,vhne proof of possihle or intended enu;ion [of an order] is demonstrated, an 
even stronger case is made for l10lcli11g nn inrli\'i<lual personally liable. Sueh 
a factor is not, however, controlling; 

'l'he puhlk interest re(}nires that the Commb:-don take snch precautionar;\· meas­
m·e:-; nH nw.;r lie necessary to dose ,off auy wide "loophole'' throngh ,vhieh the effec­
tiYe1wss of its orders may he drtumn'nh'rl. 8ud1 a "loo11hole" is ohvious in a ense 
snch as thi:-:, \Yhere the owning and controlling partr of an organization ma:v, if he 
later desires. defeat the 1rnq)oses of the Commission's aetion hy i;;impl.v snrrender­
iug his corporate eharter and forming a 11<-•w corporation, or continni11g the lrni-:i­
ne:-:s nuder a partnershil> agreement or as an individual proprietorsl1ip with com-
11l(•te disregard for the Connni:,;sion':,; aetion against the vredPc~~i;;or org;anizaf-iou. 

The individual respondent in Coran Bm8., as in the instant case, 
was the major stockholder in a closely held, family corporation, who 
could easily reorganize the corporation and continue the illegal 
practices. 

In dismissing the complaint against Mr. Melley, the examiner relied 
upon two cases which we do not find controlling in the instant case. 
The first is Lmxtble Go., 67 F.T.C. 1326 (1DG5). The standard for 
determining the liability of indivjclual respondents which vrns set 
forth in that case was designed to cover corporate officers. There was 
no indication that the officers were also the major stockholders in 
control of a closely held corporation, as in the instant case. ,ve believe 
the cli:fference in the positions of the respondents in Loi,able and in 
the case at hnnd is crncial. Unlike mere officers, controlling owners 
of a corporation have it within their power to evade a Commjssion 
order by reorganizing the corporation or by forming a partnership to 
continue the· business. 

The second case relied upon by the examiner ,vas Flotill Product8, 
Inc. "· FTC, 358 F. 2d 224 (9th Cir. 19G6) [8 S. & D. 69]. In this 
case, the. individually named respondents were the officers and owners 
of a closely held, family corporation. The Commission found them 
indi vidua.Hy liable and the court of appeals reversed. The court 
determined that proof merely of respondents' ownership and control 
of the corporation did not warrant including then1. as individuals in 
the order. Additional record evidence must show, the court said, that 
such respondents ,ycre personally involved in the violations charged 
or would be likely to evade a future order. As indicated above, ·we 
have found that the record in this case does disclose more than mere 
omiership and control of the corporation by Mr. Melley. ,ve have 

C, 
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found substantial personal involvement by the respondent in author­
izing and approving the illegal practices of the corporation, thereby 
requiring the imposition of individual liability in order to assure 
an effective order. 

II. 

RESPONDENT'S CONTENTIONS WITH RJ~SPECT TO ILLEGAL Sl~ARCII AND 

smzmn: 

Respondent contends that the evidence on which counsel support­
ing the complaint relied, first came to the Commission's attention as 
a result of an illegal search and seizure by a Commission investigator, 
and that the hearing examiner erred in refusing to grant respondent's 
motion to suppress both the documentary and testim.onial evidence 
origina:ting from the alleged illegal investigation. 

Respondent's contention rests solely on the testimony of its,;prcs1-
- dent, respondent Me1lcy, and its vice president and sales manager, 

Robert Atwood. Complaint counsel countered this testimony by plac­
ing on the witness stand the original Conunjssion investigator, David 
DiNardi, whom respondent alleged engaged in the challenged im­
proper investigatory tactics. Respondent sought to require production 
of various memoranda, field reports and notes which DiNardi testified 
he had prepared and signed •reflecting his activities and sumnrnries 
of his investigation (Tr. 27, 29, 3.0, 34). The examiner-erroneously 
in our opinion-refused to require production of those memoranda, 
and respondent cites this refusal as additional grounds for error. ,Ve 
have no doubt that this e;r-ror on th(); part of the exarnine'l· would 
require either that we strike the tesfo11ony of DiNardi or direct a 
rema11d of this case to afford respondent an opportunity to examine 
the documents ,and re-examine DiNardi on the search and sejzure 
issue. We conclude, however, t,hat a review of Mellefs testimony 
on this point makes it clear that relying solely on -respondent's ver­
sion of the :facts and disregarding entirely any of the testimony offered 
by DiNardi that no unreasonable search and seizure took place. 
Accordingly, we will strike the testimony of DiNardi in its entirety 
thereby rendering unnecessary and immaterial the production of his 
notes and memoranda for the purpose of enabling respondent to con­
duct an effective cross-examination of this witness. 6 

0 Respondent contends thn t the doc1mwnt8 wPrf> rPqnil'e-d not only to ('rnsi;-i'x:1 mine 
DiNardi but al8o to permit Melley to refre8h hifl own memory. ,ve find no bn;.;is wlwtso<>ver 
for respondent's contention that an fovestigator's work product must be turne-11 oyer to 
tile respondent to jog the ~emory of its own witnes!'l. See Jlfrknwn v. Taylor, 32!) U.S. 495 
(1947). ' 

G 
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Mr. Melley testified that on the morning of April 10, 1Dti7, Mr. Di­
Nardi appeared at his office and identified himse] fas an I~"'TC attorney­
im·estigator (Tr. M, 65, 77, 86, 89, D1). He informed Mr. Melley that 
he was investigating Standard Educators and would like to obtain 
some information. Mr. Melley replied he would he happy to give him 
any information he ·wanted and then answered a number of questions 
about the company's business. He showed DiNarcli some sales mate­
rials and two tax statements which were kept in his office (Tr. 65-66). 
l\fr. Ue11ey then testified: 

Uv to this time I wm; Yer_v, n•ry havpy to cooperate with [l>iNardi],I felt that 
was the thing to clo. hut then I sensed a little bit of a feeling of dispair or I 
felt tlrnt things were going to get a little bit rough from here on in.* * * 'l'hen 
[DiNardi] said, ""'Pll, I would like to go dowrn,tairs nnd lo<,k through your 
recorcls." I said, ''"\Vell, I don't think you :-;hould hP ·allowed to go through my 
reeorclK" I said, ·'In fact., I think I nped some aclYiee; nmyi>e I should get advice 
from nu nttonwy or i;omething." He says, "I am an attorney * * * and frankly 
if I wanted to. I could ~et a conrt order and hack nv a truck and 1-ake all the 
records that I nePded." ('l'r. 66-67, 70-78.) 

'\Vhen asked if this was said in a thrl'atcning manner, Melley 
answered: 

I don't think Jw raist><l his yoiel'; I think it might ltan' l:een as a math•r of 
information ~' * * I can't. rt'colleet his eomplf'te deuwanor at. the time. I re­
member mine, I ,vas vret.ty warm at that. vnrtienlar ilrntant. (Tr. 78-79.) 

Mr. Melley testified that DiNardi then went on to explain that the 
I~"'cderal Trade Commission also helps business and that if irregular­
ities are m1cm·crecl, a business is gin'.n an opportunity to correct them 
vohmtarily, but if they are not corrected a cease and desist order 
may he issued (Tr. G7). 

Aft.er DiNardi mentioned. voluntary complianc-P, l\folley snggestcd 
to ])iNardi that it would probably pay to be eoopcratirn and DiNardi 
agreed. l\I01ley then told DiNarcli tha.t he could proceed with the in­
vestigation (Tr. G8). 

J\frlley further testified that he was "shook" by DiKarcli~s comment 
that he ·could get a comt order, bnt that he ultimately decided to ]et 
DiNarcli go through the records because DiNardi 's statement that the 
Co111mission ·was "lenient" ma.de him :feel that DiNnrdi represented 
both the businessman and the Federal Trade Commission. He stated: 

I lookp(l 011:it [sk] more as a mediator than an in\'estiµ;ntor, to be frank ,vith 
yon. The oul.r reason I consented after I rehellPd. sort of, was when he men­
timie<l the fad that a voluntary compliance ,Yas a pos8ihility. He did not prom­
ji;e mP a n,l1111tar.r com11liance, hut he said this was a definite possibility in cases 
Y\·lwre this is .ronr tirst investigation, and the ]'ederal Trade Commission often 
gin:.'S yon a chance to get your house in order. ('l'r. 69-70.) 

(, 
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DiNardi's visit on the morning of April 10, lasted about an hour, 
during which time Melley showed him the tax forms mentioned 
above and examples of contracts (Tr. 71, 77). 

On the· evening of April 10, Melley attempted to contact his at­
torney, and failing to reach him called a business friend who advised 
him to cooperate with the investigator (Tr. 72). 

Melley then testified : 

So I wei,ghed the thing myself -and I figured, well, one way or the other 
they are going to get all the information they need, so it would be just as well 
if I went right ahead and planned my -little trip out of town and so forth. 
(Tr. 72.) 

The following day, April 11, DiNardi returned to the office and 
continued his investigation. Melley invited him to lunch and cooper­
ated with the investigation ( Tr. 72, 73). 

Melley testified : 

At this time, I had resolved that things were going to be all rigbt, I took a 
liking to him [DiNardi]. * * * I felt he had a job to do. * * * I felt that I had 
made a wif,e decision, in a sense. (Tr. 73.) 

On April 12, Melley went out of town on a golfing trjp, and DiNardi 
continued his investigation on April 12 and 13, with the cooperation 
of the oflice manager whom Mel1ey had directed to be of assistance 
(Tr. 74). . 

DiNar-di returned in the last week o:f May seeking additional rec­
ords, and J\folley instructed the office manager to cooperate in provid­
ing him with what he wanted. Again, :Melley and DiNardi had lunch 
together (Tr. 75-76). 

Mr. Atvvood then testifie.d as to the events surrounding DiNardi's 
visit to Standard Educators. He stated that he had been introduced 
to DiNardi on April 10, and that following DiN ardi's departure that 
morning, Mr. Melley told him DiNardi was from the Federal Trade 
Commission, had been asking him questions and was going to investi­
gate the company. He ,testified that Melley ,Yas "emotionally shaken" 
on that morning (Tr. 89). On the following day, Atvrnod saw DiNardi 
in the offices of Standard Educators but had no conversation with 
him. The next time Atwood ,saw DiNardi was the last week in May 
when he joined Melley and DiNardi for lunch (Tr. 90). 

The question posed in this case is ·whether, in view of this evidence, 
Melley voluntarily consent.eel to DiNardi's search of the files. Re­
spondent argues that DiNardi "coerced" Melley into giving him ac­
cess to the corporate' files by a "combination of threats and promises.': 
The threat consisted' of DiNardi's statement that he could get a court 
order and take all the records; the promise was that if Melley co-
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operated, this would "perhaps result m a voluntary compliance." 
( Res. A pp. Br. at 26, 27.) 

It is clear that a search and seizure may be made without a search 
warrant where the individual "freely and intelligently gives his un­
equivocal and specific consent to the search, uncontaminated by any 
duress or coercion, actual or implied." Channel v. United States, 285 
F. 2-d 217, 219 (9th Cir. 1960); United States v. Vicker8, 387 F. 2d 
703 (4th Cir. 19'67), cert. denied, 392 U.S. 912 (1968); Judd v. United 
States, 190 F. 2d 649 (D.C. Cir. 1951). The burden of proving that 
the consent was given freely and voluntarily rests with the party claim­
ing consent. Bwnper v. North Oarol-ina, 391 U.S. 543 ( 1968). 

-~we do not think that Jfelley's testimony as a whole warrants our 
finding that DiNardi's statements had a coercive effeet upon him or 
that his consent to the search was other than voluntary. The vohm­
tariness of a consent is a question of fact, Ll/axwell v. Stephens, ?,48 F. 
2d 325, 336 (8th Cir. 1965), cert. denied, 382 U.S. 944 (1965), to be 
decided in light of all the attendant circumstances. The criterial fac­
tors to be weighed include, "the setting in which the consent was ob­
tained, what was said and done by the parties present, with particular 
emphasis on what was said and done by the individual consenting to 
the search, and his age, intelligence and educa.tional background." 
United States ex 'rel. Harris v. Ilencfriclc8, 423 F. 2d 1096, 1099 (3rd 
Cir. 1970). 

"\Ve note at the outset that Melley "need not have had a positive 
desire that the search be conducted in order for his consent to lrnYe 
been voluntary and effective." United States v. Thompson, 351) F. 2d 
216, 220 (2nd Cir. 1965), cert. denied, 384 U.S. 964 (1966). The fact 
that he had some qualms at first about permitting DiNardi to search 
the files is thus not grounds for finding his consent was involuntary. 
Some expression of reluctance to a search is to be expected and does 
not necessarily sign1fy coercion.7 

The critical determination is whether Melley knew he was being 
asked rather than ordered to permit the search. United States v. 
Vickers, 387 F. 2d 70:3, 707 (4th Cir. 1967), cert. denied, 392 U.S. D12 
( 1968). 

7 Com;ider the following exchange which was not considered coercive hy the court in 
Unitecl Sta.te.~ v,. Morton Provision Cornpan11, 294 F. Supp. 385, 389 (D. Del. 1!)68) : 

"A. Mr. CowgiU [a Department of A~riculture inYef-tigator] came in, antl aftm· pre­
liminary greetings he told me that he was there to get the records of the past six months 
of my books. 

"Q. And what did you say to tlrn.t? 
"A. •·wen, do I have to give them to you 7' 
"Q. Ana what was his reply? 
"A. 'Look, we can get the records so you might as well not fight it because we can get 

them.'" 
1 
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It is clear from his testimony that Melley knew he had a choice in 
this matter. He sought advice from others, and in his own words 
"weighed" the entire matter in his mind following DiNardi's departure 
on April 10th. By the next day, he concluded that he had made "a wise 
decision." He did not merely acquiesce to DiNardi's request because 
he thought he had no alternative. He testified that ultimately the 
reason he consented to the file search was the possibility of voluntary 
compliance, although he unequivocally stated that a settlement 
through voluntary compliance had never been promised (Tr. 69-70). 
In shmt, Melley considered the alternatives and decided that his 
cooperation would be beneficial to his case. That l\1el°ley was capable 
of a voluntary and intelligent consent to the search is supported by 
the fact that he was a high school graduate and had been in business 
for himself for ten years (Tr. 115, 117). · 

It should be noted that at no time did DiNardi deceive or misinform 
Melley as to his purpose or authority. l\felley was told that a cease 
and desist order might ultimately result from the investigation (Tr. 
67). Nor did DiNardi mislead Melley into believing that the premises 
could be searched without a search warrant. In fact, he made clear 
that a "court order" would be required if any documents were to bo 
taken without Melley's consent (Tr. 66, 67, 70, 78). DiNardi's asser­
tion that he could get the court order did not render the search illegal 
since Melley thereafter decided to permit the search without requiring 
the court order. Ilaniilton v. North Om·olina, 260 F. Supp. (·m2 (E.D. 
N.C. 1966), aff'd, 382 F. 2d 296 (4th Cir. 1967); Kershner v. Boles, 
212 F. Supp. 9 (N.D. W.V. 1963). It was not necessary for DiNardi 
to specifically advise Melley of his right to refuse the inspection 
without a warrant. United States ex rel. Harris v. Ilencln'.cks, 42a F. 
2d 1096 (3rd Cir. 1970); Gorman v. Un-itecl States, 380 F. 2d 158 
(1st Cir. 1967). 

There was never any evidence that DiNardi raised his voice or acted 
in a threatening manner (Tr. 78). ·when he spoke of using a truck 
to take away the records, Melley testified, in fact, that DiNardi "im­
plied that maybe he would not do that but 'this is how far we could 
go'." (Tr. 70.) 

Considering all of the circumstances surrounding l\follefs con­
sent to the search, we find that it was voluntarily given. Melley was 
never coerced or threatened, nor was he misinformed as to the nature 
of the search. He had an adequate opportunity and ,vas sufficiently ex­
perienced in business matters to freely and intelligently give his con­
sent. From his o,vn testimony, we conclude that he did so. 

The respondent cites four cases to support its contention that Mel­
ley's consent was involuntarily given (Res. App. Br. at 26). Hmvever, 

470-883-73-~8 
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the decisions in these cases turn on critical factors not present in this 
case. In United States v. Slusser. 270 F. 818 (S.D. Ohio 1921), the de­
fendant agreed to a search after a ht,v enforcement officer displayed his 
haclgc and declared he was there, to search the premises. The court 
found this was not a consent to waive constitutional rights but a 
"peaeefnl submission to officers of the law." 270 F. at 819. 

T11f•. second case cited b~! respondent ,ms United States v. J.B. Km.­
mer Grocery Oo., 294 F. Supp. 65 (E.D. Ark.), aff'd, 418 F. 2d 987 
(8th Cir. 1969), in which the court found no voluntary consent had 
been given to an inspector ·who asserted he had the authority to inspect 
without a warrant and the person consenting to the search believed 
that a refusal might result in criminal prosecution. In Buzn,per v. North 
Oarolina, 391 U.S. 543 (1968), the comt found that a voluntary consent 
,vas not given when the officer conducting the search asserted that he 
possessed a warrant. Consent under such circumstances, the court 
found, amounted to mere acquiescence to a claim of lawful authority. 

1Finally, respondent relies upon Pennsylvania v. W right, 411 Pa. 81,190 
A. 2d 709 (1963), in which the court held a consent was involuntary 
when it was elicited through deceit and misrepresentations by the 
searching police officers. They had falsely told the ,voman who per­
mitted the search that her husband had admitted committing a crime 
and had sent them for the evidence. 

None of these cases supports respondent's contention that the cir­
cnmstances in the instant case reflect a lack of voluntary consent. 
As noted above, there is nothing in Melley's testimony to indicate that 
DiNanli ever asserted he had the authority to search the premises 
without a warrant. In fact, the opposite is true. He indicated that a 
conrt order would be necessary to obtain the files. There was no threat 
of arrest or criminal prosecution. Nor did DiNardi deceive Me11ey 
about his authority or the purpose of his investigation. On the basis of 
Mellcy's own testimony we can only conclude that his consent was 
'"olnnta.rily given ,vithout coercion or duress, actual or implied. vVe 
find, therefore, that no unreasonable search and seizure took place in 
violation of respondent's Fourth Amendment rights. 

III. 

RESPQNDENT'S ALLEGATIONS OF DUE PROCESS DENIAL 

Respondent also seeks reversal of the examiner's findings of liability 
on the claim that its due process rights to a fair trial were violated 
during the pre-trial stage of this proceeding. 

0 
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Essentially, respondent's claims of unfairness rest on its contention 
that it had been deprived of an adequate opportunity to prepare its 
defense "vith respect to the testimony of 10 of the rn consumer witnesses 
who testified as to the representations made to them by respondcnes 
salesmen which were charged in the complaint as cleceptive.8 As a re­
sult, respondent argues that the hearing examiner erred in not striking 
the testimony of these ,vitnesses. 

vVith respect to five of these witnesses, respondent claims that their 
addresses had been incorrectly listed on the witness list which com­
plaint counsel had been required by pre-trial order to furnish re­
spondent. vVith respect to seven of the consumer ·witnesses called by 
complaint counsel, respondent contends it had been incorrectly denied 
an opportunity by the examiner to take their depositions upon written 
interrogatories.9 

A. ·witnesses' Addresses 
The facts underlying respondent's contention concerning the wit­

nesses' addresses are not substantially in dispute. By letter of March 3, 
1970, respondent's counsel requested complaint counsel to supply them 
with a list of the witnesses they intended to call (Res. App. Br., app. 
A). In response, complaint coimsel provided respondent on March 27, 
1970, with a tentative· witness list containing 49 names of possible 
Commission ·witnesses, consisting of 21 couples and seven individuals 
(C.C. Ans. Br., app. 1). The list indicated the names and addrp,sses of 
the witnesses and the para.graphs and subparagraphs of the complaint 
,vith which the testimony of each of the named witnesses would deal. 

On May 13, 1970, complaint counsel submitted to respondent their 
final list of witnesses as required by the examiner's pre-trial order of 
April 13, 1970. This list confirmed the earlier list, but omitted two 
names and added the names of six new consumer witnesses, three of 
respondent's employees, and one Commission investigator. The list 
was thus expanded to 57 names, which included 24 couples and seven 
individuals who had purchased respondent's books. Complaint counsel 
agajn identified each witness by address and complaint paragraph to 
,vhich he would testify ( C.C. Ans. Br., app. II). 

8 Although complaint counsel called 14 consumer witnesses, we are concerned here with 
only 13 witnesses, since the examiner did not consider in his decision the testimony of 
one consumer witness, Mr. Broach. He had not signed a contract ancl there was no signed 
contract in respondent's files from which respondent could ascertain the facts surrounding 
the particular sale in order to prepare its defense in advance of trial. (ID 9.) 

9 Two of these seven consumer witnesses were also among the five witnesses whose 
addresses respondent claims bad been inaccurately listed. Thus, there was a total of 10 
witnesses for whom respondent claims it was unal>le to prepare its defense. 
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Respondent sought unsuccessfully to require complaint counsel to 
limit the number of witnesses on the list.10 

On June 17, respondent sent a letter to complaint counsel indicating 
that it was encountering difficulty in locating some of the Commission's 
witnesses. One June 27th, complaint counsel sent respondent's counsel 
a revised witness list which contained all of the 57 names but ,vith 
revised addresses for five of the couples and two of the individuals. 
Upon receiving this list, respondent moved on June 30th for the 
postponement of the hearing which was denied by the examiner on 
July 6th. The hearing commenced on July 7th. 

Respondent claims that the testimony of five of the 13 Commission 
witnesses should be stricken from the record 011 the ground that the 
addresses originally provided for these witnesses by complaint counsel 
on March 27, 1970, and repeated 011 l\iay 13, 1970, were inaccurate. 
Accurate addresses £or these ,vitnesses were not provided respondent's 
counsel until June 27. " 

Respondent relies for its contentions of dne process vio1ations pri­
marily on the recent decision of the Fifth Circuit in Pacific Molasse8 
Co. v. FTC, 356 F. 2d 386 (5th Cir. 1966). We agree that this decision 
establishes the applicable law on the issue, but we disagree that the 
facts in this case in any way raise the same issues of due process which 
the Fifth Circuit found to exist in the Pacific i1Iola8ses case. 

In Pac·ific M olass-e8, the Commission brought suit in 1962 for alleged 
violations of Section 2(a) of the Clayton Act in the sale of "black­
strap" molasses for the first nine mont,hs of 1955. The Commission 
issued its complaint in April 195D, and, in tho fall of 1959, counsel 
representing both sides requested a -pre-hearing conference. 

On July 14, 1960, the conference was held, at which time the exam­
iner entered an order requiring complaint counsel to present to re­
spondent's counsel a list of the ·witnesses and documentary eYidence 
to be relied upon at the hearing. The examiner did not set a day cer­
tain for this materia1 to be provided hut rather ordered that it he 
provided fifteen days before the date fixed for the hearing. On l\iay 
2, 1962, the examiner notified the parties that the settlement ncgotia-

10 Responclent wrote complaint connsel a lettl'r on May 20. 1!)70. nrging him to rl'<lnce 
the witness list and after counsel refused, filed a. motion on l\fa.y 27th with the examiner 
seeking the same relief. Respondent urged that the nnmber of witnesses should be JimitPcl 
in order to reduce its burden of preparing for cross-examinations and also to eliminate 
unnecessary duplication of testimony since it was clear that many of the witnesses would 
be called to testify about the same paragraphs and Rnhparagraphs of the complnint. 
Complaint counsel pointed ont that nnder the Commission's Rules of PraeticP, Section 
3.21 (d), he would be ,Precluded by the examiner's pre-hearing order from calling any 
witness who had not previously been identified as such and, thus, it would be prejndlclal 
to his case to make sucb'a reduction. 

'.fhe examiner denied the motion on May 28, 1970. 
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tions_ which had consumed bvo years must be terminated and directed 
that the hearing start on May 2Sth. 

Complaint counsel's witness and document list ,va.s due under the 
terms of the examiner's order on May 15th. Counsel failed to provide 
any witnesses' names on this date. A subpoena for one witness was 
issued on May 18th. The names of four more ,vitnesses were commu­
nicated to respondents on May 24th, and the identity of the remaining 
three witnesses was not furnished respondents until Monday, May 
28th, the first day of the hearing. 

Respondents' motion for a continuance was denied by the examiner 
on the ground that all of the witnesses were customers and employees 
of the respondents and the issues in the case were simple. and straight­
forward. Respondents did proceed to cross-examine complaint coun­
sel's witnesses and after the case-in-chief was concluded they ,Yere 
granted a 40-day continuance with the right to recall witnesses. The 
Commission found no prejudice in these actions although it,."viewed 
counsel's failure to comply ,vith the original pretrial order as "re.gret­
table." The circuit court reversed. 

The court based its reversal squa.rely on the fact that Commission 
counsel had violated the examiner's pre-trial order which according 
to the Commission's Rnlcs of Practice must control the proceedings 
(16 C.F.R. Section 3.10 (1960) ). The Court rejected the Commis­
sion's reasoning that any surprise was overcome by the 40-day con­
tinuance since respondent's right to effective cross-examination ,vas 
not satisfied by the subsequent continuance and right to recall. As 
the court put it: 

Effeetive eross-examination requires ;thorough preparation by counsel before 
trial. * * * To phrase the prover question •on eross-examination requires a 
sound knowlPdge of the witness. his business, reeordsi. books mHl .:.divities. And 
although petitioners might have gone ahead and guPssecl at who the ,vitnesses 
might IJe when no word was receh·ed, this would hardly seem ade<1uate., 356 F. 2d 
at BDO. 

In the instant case, respondent's connsel did not even attempt cross­
examination of the five witnesses for which.he claimed he had not rc­
ceiYed timely notice. of accurate addresses. 

For each of the witnesses called to ,vhich the respondent raised this 
objection, the examiner did two things: ( 1) he directed a voir dire 
examination to determine the reason for compla:int counsel's failure 
to list accurate addresses for these witnesses, whether by inadvertence., 
carekssness or impossibility, and (2) after ruling on the admissibility 
of the witness' testi'rnony, he permitted respondent's counsel the oppor­
tunity to intervie,v the ,Yitness privately in a separate room be,-fore 

I 
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commencing cross-examination. Respondent not only declined to so 
interview the ·witnesses but also declined to cross-examine. 

The testimony elicited at the hearing revealed that so far as the 
Commission's ·witnesses were concerned, the failure to supply the cor­
rect addresses on l\fay 13, was for the most part unavoidable and the 
J\fay rn addresses \Ve-re, in fact, the best antilable. 

To ·wit: 
1. Witness Linda J. Olson: A Colorado address was girnn for 

Mrs. Olson on May 13. At the time of the hearing, Mrs. Olson 
resided in Alaska. The Colorado address was the address of rec­
ord received from the Department of Defense in preparation of 
the March 27 tentative witness list (Tr. 217-19; ID 10-11).11 

2. ·witness April l\faillet: The May rn witness li~t coutnined a 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire, address~ however, at the time of 
trial, l\frs. Maillet was living in North Carolina. The witness tes­
tified that she had moved at the end of April when her husband 
was unexpectedly returned from Viet Nam 30 days ahead of sched­
ule and transferred to Camp Lejeune. (Tr. 202-94: ~ ID rn-17). 

3. ,vitness Bruce David Campbell: :Mr. Campbell testified that 
he moved unexpectedly on April 6, rn70, from the Yorktown, Vir­
ginia, address on the ,vitness list to his present address in ,va.rren, 
Michigan. He received an ear]y release from the Navy althowd1 
his discharge and release had been sclwduled for ,Tuly. He had in­
formed complaint counsel he \You1d be in Virginia until .Tnly 
(Tr. 2R3-86; ID 15). 

4. Witness Larry Edward Riµ:gs: Wrhile both addresses on the 
list and a.t the time of trial are in Shrernport, Lonisinna, the 
street addresses differ. The witness testified lie moYPd in l\Iay (Tr. 
302; ID 18). 

5. vVitness ·Robert E. H. Ferg:nson: }\fr. FPrguson was dis­
charged from the service on April 2R, prior to vd1ich time he was 
stationed in ,Tapan. Although he had corresponded ·with com­
plaint counsel, he never sent a fonnuding address (Tr. 344-4-7; 
ID 23). He returned stateside in ,Tune. 

Thus, the issue is squarely presented as to whether complaint conn­
seFs failure to supply accurate nddresses for each of the lvitnesses 
constitutes a "violation" of the examiner~s order ,vithin the meaning 
of the conrt's decision in Pacific JIo1asse8. This precise question is one 
of first impression.Nevertheless, the iss11e is essentially one of fairne8s 
and reasonableness. Under the facts ns they nre presented in this case, 

11 In all cases, the addresHes on the March 27, and l\fay 13, lists are identical unless 
otherwise indicated. 
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we are of the view that no such flat refusal to comply with the pre­
trial order governing this proceeding took place here as it did in 
Pacific ilfolasses. In the instant case, complaint counsel complied with 
the hearing examiner's order by providing both the names of the wit­
nesses he intended to call as well as the addresses of those ·witnesses as 
he knew them. The record indicates that as soon as he learned that the 
addresses were h1accurate, he so not,jfied respondent. 

All of these five witnesses were customers of respondent who had 
executed contracts with respondent for the purchase of respondent's 
books. Communication of their names to respondent ns reqnired by 
the order provided respondent with full opportunity to prepare itself 
with respect to the possible testimony of these witnesses. By learning 
their names, respondent was able to turn to its o-wn files to determine 
the nature and circumstances of their purchases, the salesmen involved 
and any other information pertinent to the particular compfojnt al­
legations as to which these witnesses would be testjfying. 

Certainly respondent's trial preparn.tion 'lrnukl have been consid­
erably eased if complaint counsel had been able or ,villing to pare his 
witness list dow·n to more manageable proportions ear]ier than .Tnne 27, 
on]y ten days before hearing with an intervening holiday weekend. 
Nevertheless, complaint counsel was obviously laboring under con­
siderable difficulty himseJf in view of the nature of the witnesses who 
must inevitably be called. In one sense, the problem was created by 
respondent because of its business policy of directing sales to military 
personnel. Indeed, recognizing the difficulty to itself caused by this 
policy, respondent's contracts provided space to secure data not only 
on the name, rank, serial number, present duty post and present ad­
dress, but they also provided space for the home address of the pur­
chaser and the name and address of a relative not living with the pur­
chaser (CX 18 A- B). It seems clear thnt respondent had at least an 
equal opportunity, and perhaps a better one than complaint counsel, 
to locate the present whereabouts of these ,vitnesses. 

Moreover, during the proceeding, the examiner did everything in 
his power to assure that respondent had fn11 opportunity to prepare 
for cross-examination. After having ascert~1,ined that the inaccurate 
address had in no way been the. result of complaint counsel's careless­
ness or deliberate efforts to make access to their witnesses difficult for 
respondent, the examiner gave respondent the opportunity to inter­
view these witnesses prior to cross-examination. Respondent's counsel 
refused to a.vail themselves of this opportunity and persisted in their 
refusal to avail themselves of their right to cross-examine as \.-Yell. 
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·we hold that the examiner did not err in refusing to strike the testi­
mony of these witnesses. ,ve do not believe that the inaccuracy of the 
addresses in this case constitutes a violation of the examiner's pre­
trial order such as to compel reversal of this case under Pacific J}folas­
ses. Nor do we believe that any prejudice, in fact, resulted to respondent 
under the procedures offered and made available to respondent once 
the final identity of the ·witnesses, together with their correct addresses, 
was made known to respondent. 

n. ·witness Depositions 

After respondent's motion to reduce the number of witnesses on the 
l\fay 13th witness list was denied by the examiner on May 28th,12 

respondent on ,Tune V, 1970, filed a motion to take depos1tions upon 
written interrogatories of 14 of the witnesses listed ml complaint 
connseJ's l\'1a.y 13th 1ist. 

In support of its motion, respondent argued that it would be im­
possible to interview all of complaint counsel's ·witnesses in advance o:f 
trial, that it did not have the resources to pay for plane fares or 
lawycr~s fees necessary to locate distant witnesses, and that it was 
necessary, therefore, to take depositions upon written interrogatories 
of 14 witnesses so distant that it would be impossible to interview them. 
The 14 ,vitnesses were located in 12 different states outside the state 
of respondent's place of lmsiness.13 

Complaint counsel opposed respondent's application on the grounds, 
intm· aHa ( 1) that respondent's assertion that interviewing the wit­
nesses would be too costly was not a justifiable ground for permitting 
the depositions; (2) that respondent had not made any showing that 
it lrnd made any efforts to obtain the desired information voluntarily as 
required by Commission rules; (3) that. respondent had made no show­
ing of having: attempted to contact the ·witnesses by phone or letter; 
and finally ( 4) that much of the information to he sought from the 
witnesses was already in the possession of respondent ( C.C. Ans. to 
Resp. Application for Depositions upon ,vritten Interrogatories, 
l nne 2fl, 1970). 

On ~June 27, 1970, the hearing examiner denied respondent's appli­
cation for depositions upon written interrogatories on the grounds 
that the information sought could be obtained at the hearing, that the 
information sought was not "vital" to respondent, and that much 

12 See note 10 suvra. , 
13 Respon(knt wns located in Connecticut; the witnesses lived in Illinois, Oklahoma, 

California, l\Iiehignn, Minnesota, Kentucky, Ol1lo, Alaska, Louisiana, New York, South 
Cnrolina. and Arkansas. 
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of the information sought through the interrogatories ,vas already 
in respondent's possession.14 

As noted earlier, the case proceeded as scheduled on July 9, 1970. 
Seven of the 14 ,vitnesses whom respondent sought to de.pose were 
called to testify, and again respoudenfs counsel declined to crnss­
examine them. Respondent now contends that the examiner erred in 
failing to strike the testimony of these seven witnesses on the grounds 
that respondent had not been permitted to take the depositions of these 
witnesses in advance of the hearing. 

The Commission's Rules of Practice are very clear on the rights 
of respondents to take depositions in advance of trial. Section 2.38 (a) 
of these rules provides that the examiner may order the taking of 
depositions "upon a showing tha.t the deposition is neces.sary for 
purposes of discovery and that such discovery could not l;e accom­
plished by voluntary methods." 

Respondent made no showing of any kind as to why the discovery 
which it sought could not have been accomplished by voluntary 
methods, beyond its assertion that voluntary methods were una.vail­
able because the witnesses were "scattered throughout the country," 
and that it did not wish to travel to the ·witnesses -and interview them 
in person. Yet the need to interview these witnesses in person ,vas 
not apparently the crux of respondent's trja} preparation needs. In 
its motion respondent was seeking only ,vritten interrogatories. Thus, 
the ruling which respondent is no\v claiming vi01ated its due proress 
rights did not involve a denial of personal confrontation. Obviously, 
respondent did not believe it necessary to observe the demeanor of 
these witnesses or probe in personal question and answer form, the 
extent of their memories-. Therefore, its claim of clue process viola­
tion here rests solely on the alleged denial to it of an opportlmity 
to obtain the desfred information by compulsory process. 

Respondent clearly could have telephoned or written these witnesses 
to at least explore their willingness to talk to respondent and to provide 
the information desired. ,vith one exception, correct addresses for 
the seven witnesses called to testify were given to respondent \Yell in 

14 Respondent's written interrogatories contained 28 questions which were aimed nt 
ohtaining inter al-ia the following information: the nnme of t1Je Standard E,lncators' sali>s­
man who met with and sold books to the witness, the Je]]gth of bis visit nnll the substance 
of his conversation with the witness; whether the witness paid in full for his books fllHl 

whether a Standard Educators' representative had called the witness to confirm that he 
had signed the contra0ct; and whether the witness thereafter bad been interviewed hy a 
representative of the Federal Trade Commission, was shown any doeuments h:v that 
representative or signed any statement on his request. 

https://possession.14
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advance of trial.15 There is nothing in the record to indicate that 
respondent could not have ascertained what it needed or wanted to 
know from these witnesses by informal, voluntary means. The infor­
mation sought through the interrogatories 16 involved such questions 
as the name of the salesman who contacted the witness, whether the 
witness had paid for the books in full, and whether a Standard Edu­
cators' representative had called the witness to confirm the sale. Much 
of it was in respondent's files.17 Even if some of the information in 
respondent's files was inaccurate, respondent could have verified this 
information by a simple telephone call. Similarly, it would not have 
seemed impossible to have at least tried to ascertain by letter or tele­
phone the other information in which respondent was interested con­
cerning the substance of the salesman's conversation with the witness 
and whether the Commission had contacted the witness. 

There was no evidence that such informal contacts to ascertain this 
limited and specific information would have proven fruitless. 

As we pointed out in Associated Aferchandi8ing Gorp., FTC Docket 
No. 86fJl (November 13, H>67) [72 F.T.C. 1020], the mere fact that 
witnesses are to be called by complaint counsel is not a sufficient basis 
for assuming that they will not cooperate voluntarily in providing 
information to respondent. Clearly respondent could have at least 
made a minimal and preliminary effort to secure the desired informa­
tion by letter or telephone. 

Yet respondent did none of these things. Rather it simply asserted 
to the examiner that it desired the deposition because it did not wish 
to expend the monies which woukl be required to traYel to the wit­
nesses' p1ace of residence and interview them in person. 

There is no doubt that cross examination is an important, perhaps 
Yita1, facet of the adversary process. Certainly interviewing witnesses 
to 1earn wlrnt it is they know abont the issues to which they will be 
testifying is important in preparing one's defense. But none of these 
factors is in issue in this ,case. Instead, respondent, because it failed 
to make even a minimal showing of compliance with the Commission~s 

15 l\Ir!-'. OJ,;on·s :-1<1<lress was incorrectlr listed until .Tune 27th so tlu~t respon1len1t wonld 
lun-e hn,1 some flilficnlty in rPachin!!" her hy letter or telPphone. Correct adf!resse,; were 
proYidrd as early as l\Iarch 27. 1H70. for four of the witnesses respondent sought to 
dPpose. and the )fay 18th list pro,·idP<l correct nd1lresses for the other two witnesses. 
Althoui;h respond('nt also ohjecte<l to l\Ir. Riggs' testimon,y on the grounds that an incor­

0 

rect a<1dress harl lu'en gin'n for him, it was apparent from Mr. Riggs' testimony, note1l 
f>arlier, that he did not move until Mar. Respondent had been given his correct address 
on the ;\larch 27th list and, tlrns, hacl sufficient time to reach him at the address sup.plied 
by complaint coim,;el. 

w See note 14. supra. 
17 Harnples of respondent's contracts entered into evidence during the trial did, in fact, 

eontain the signature of the sales representative (CX 18, 20-29). 
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rules is in effect, presenting this Commission with a bare claim that 
it has an absolute right to compulsory process in order to interrogate 
prospective witnesses by means of written interrogatories. 

The Commission's Rules of Practice are premised on the position 
that compulsory process is available and may indeed be necessary. 
However, Rule 3.33 (a) requires that some showing be made that com­
pulsory process is necessary. It is arguable that requiring such a show­
ing is either unnecessary or umvise or both. But the issue before the 
Commission is not the wisdom of this rule. Respondent made no effort 
to comply with the Commission's rules, despite the fact that the cir­
cumstances surrounding respondent's discovery request indicate that 
respondent might have easily obtained the limited and specific in­
formation it was seeking through interrogatories by the very simple 
means of writing or telephoning the witnesses. Or at least, it could 
have been in a position to advise the examiner that it was unable to 
seek the information voluntarily as required by the rule. Had the ,-.vit­
nesses been cooperative, these voluntary methods of discovery would 
have yielded the same information which respondent could have ex­
pected from the use of ·written interrogatories. Had they not been co­
operative or were in some other way rendering this method of trial 
preparation inadequate, respondent had only to present the problem 
to the hearing examiner. But this is not what respondent did. Instead, 
it simply ignored the Commission's rule and sought instead to insist on 
discovery through written interrogatories without making any show­
ing of any kind that the rule's standard was or should be regarded as 
i1rnpplicable to it. 

,ve find neither theoretical nor actual prejudice to respondent's 
rights as a result of the examiner's ruling. In view of respondent's 
failure to show that its requested discovery was unavailable through 
volnntary methods, as required by Section 3.33 (a), and upon our own 
independent determination that \ve find no actual prejudice to respon­
dent's rights, ,ve conclude that the hearing examiner acted reasonably 
ju denying respondent's request for Commission process to obtain 
cli~covery. 

In reaching this conclusion, we do not depart from our holding in 
l{oppePs Oo., Inc., FTC Docket No. 8755 (July 2, 1968) [74 F.T.C. 
1571]. I{oppers in no way modified the requirement of Section 3.33 (a) 
that discovery be attempted voluntarily before Commission process is 
granted. In that case, respondent explicitly set forth the steps it took to 
secure discov~ry by informal means. Respondent had by letter sought 
interviews with the witnesses, and only after counsel :for these wit­
nesses rejected the request and advised respondent to seek discovery 
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under the Commission's rules did respondent apply to the heai•jng 
examiner for Commission process (Resp. Interlocutory App. Br. at 5). 
Thus, it was evident that the respondent had fuUy satisfied that portion 
of Section 3.33 ( a) requiring that voluntary methods for obtaining dis­
covery be attempted. 

Respondent relies on l{oppers to argue that its requested depositions 
were necessary to prepare for effective cross examination at trial. How­
ever, in the instant case we need not reach the issue of whether the in­
formation.sought by respondent through the use of interrogatories ,Yas 
"necessary" for purposes of discovery within the meaning of Section 
3.33 (a) .18 ·whether or not this information was necessary, in the 
absence of respondent's showing that the information could not have 
been obtained voluntarily, its.application for depositions should have 
been denied. vVe, therefore, find no grounds for reversing~the hearing 
examiner's ruling on respondent's application for depositions upon 
written interrogatories. 1 

Taking all of the circumstances of this case into consideration, we 
believe it essential that we -come to grips with the question of whether 
the handicaps under which respondent claims it labored in trying to 
prepare its case, in fact, constituted such irreparable harm and preju­
dice that the public interest-quite apart fromthe requirements of due 
process--compel either a remand, or as respondent urges, a dismissal 
of this case. 

The examiner's findings that the chal1enged repreeentations were in -
fact made as al1eged in the corn plaint, rested on the essentially identical 
testimony of 13 consumer witnesses. The testimony of three of these 
wit.nesses is not now challenged in nny way by respondent. Respond­
ent's contentions with respect to the prejudicial C'tfcct of the incor­
rect addresses a.ffect only five of these witnesses. Its contentions with 
respe.ct to the denial of its request to depose ,vitnesses affect only seven 
of these witnesses, two of whom a]so fall in the group of five witnesses 
with allegedly incorrect addresses. Thus, it is important to note that 
even if the Commission determined to strike the te~tirnony of all of the 
consumer witnesses to ,vhom respondent is objecting, or only those 
involved in the examiner's refusal to permit depositions, there would 
still be both consumer testimony and documentary evidence in this 
record supportfag the complaint. a1Jegntions as to the types of repre­
sentations which respondent's salesmen made in the course of their 
sales pitch. It is also important to note that the testimony of these 

--1a The hearing examiner based his dental of respondent's application for depositions on 
tlle grounds that the discovery was not necessary. Having so concluded, he denied the 
application without considering whether the discovery could have been obtalne<l by 
voluntary means. 
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witnesses constituted only one portion of the total evidence offered to 
prove the allegations in this complaint that respondent engaged in 
unfair and deceptive practices in violation of ISection 5 of the Federal 
Trade Commission Act. The testimony of the consumer witnesses was 
offered to prove that the allegedly false representations had, in fact, 
been made by respondent's salesmen. Their testimony and the making 
of these representations was corroborated by documentary evidence 
offered by complaint counsel, consisting of the sales contracts them­
selves which respondent's customers executed (CX 18, 20-29). Fi­
nally, evidence of the falsity of these representations did not depend in 
any sense on the testimony of these consumer witnesses. It rested eri-'­
tirely on testimony of respondent's own employees ~nd on documents 
contained in respondent's filBs (Tr. 145, 156-8, 175-A, CX 3, 35). 

But we do not rest our conclusion about the outcome of this case 
on this basis. We must also examine carefully the issues in this case 
on which these customer witnesses were called to testify. 

The issues in the case ,vere relatively simple. They involved essen­
tially the sales methods by ,vhich respondent was alleged to have con­
ducted its business. Obviously, respondent was fully cognizant of the 
facts surrounding the conduct of its own business. More.over, respond­
ent ha.cl in its own files the basic information surrounding the sales 
transactions to which these consumer witnesses would testify-the 

.dates of the contracts, the names of the salesmen who made the sales, 
the types of materials purchased and the terms of the transactions.19 

Thus, we are not dealing ·here with facts in issue which are wholly 
unknown to respondent and do not relate to its business. 

It is also clear that respondent was confronted by complaint counsel 
with a relatively long Est of consumer witnesses, 24 couples and seven 
individuals. Understandably, it wanted to contact the witnesses before 
trial in order to prepare its case. Respondent was reluctant, for its 
own reasons, to expend the money involved in personally interviewing 
these 24 couples and seven individuals. Again it can hardly be disputed 
that it could have been quite costly for respondent or its counsel to 
travel from Connecticut, respondent's place of business, to Alaska, 
Louisiana or California, to mention only the most distant states in 
which some of the witnesses lived. 

Bal a.need a.gainst these problems of trial preparation is the fact 
that respondent was engaged in a national sales operation. Thus, the 
selection of witnesses and the distances at which they lived was solely 
the result of the niture of respondent's business. "While trial prepara­
tion is jnevitably a costly process, the ultimate decision as to how to 

10 Sec notes 8 and 17, su.pra.. 
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trade off the needs of trial preparation and the costs invol vecl is 
essentially a personal decision of the respondent~ Again it is respond­
ent's mvn business conduct which set)hese proceedings in motion, 
and the personal costs involved must be considered against the poten­
tia.l injury to the public ,vhich flowed from respondent's activities, i:f 
in fact the complaint allegations are finally supported. Moreover, 
respondent's counsel was not rendered completely helpless in their 
preparation for trial by the financial constraints which they imposed 
on themselves and by the obstacles which they encountered in trying to 
interrogate these witnesses by written interrogatories. The hearing 
examiner made every effort to provide counsel with the opportunity 
to interview these witnesses while the trial was proceeding. It "·as 
respondent's counsel who elected to stand on what th:ey regarded as 
their legal rights. They, therefore, consciously assumed the risk which 
could flow to their client of entering no defense to these witnesses' 
testimony. This was a risk which they were entitled to take but it 
is also relevant to our consideration of ,vhether they had any options 
to avoid the irreparable harm which they claim arose from the obsta­
cles purportedly placed in their way by the examiner's ruling. It is 
clear that the obstacles, such as they were, could have been ameliorated 
by respondent's counsel. They elected not to do so. This ,yas surely 
their right. But our responsibility is a broader one. The Commission 
is charged with the responsibility of ensming that the public is pro­
tected against unfair acts and practices. 

In this case the unfair and deceptive practices charged in the com­
plaint involved respondent's methods of selling encyclopedias to mem­
bers of the armed forces. At the trial, the hearing examiner weighed 
the evidence, observed the demeanor o:f the witnesses and concluded 
that the complaint allegations had bt>en 1n·oveu; Respondent partic­
ipated :fully in the trial, cross-examining those witnesses whom jt 
chose to cross-examine and offering its own defense and witnesses. 
Three of the 13 consumer witnesses called by complaint counsel to 
testify as to the representations of respondent's salesmen were fully 
cross-examined by respondent. The other 10 consumer witnesses re­
spondent by its o-wn volition elected not to cross-examine. It is sig­
nificant here that the examiner's refusal to allow the depositions on 
written interrogatories affected only seven of the consumer witnesses 
ca1led. 

As to the r~emaining three witnesses, respondent's basis for not cross­
examining them rested not on its inability to interrogate or interview 
them bnt simply on the fact that their addresses had been inconect1y 
listed. 
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This case was first investigated in April 1967. Complaint was filed 
in January 1970. ·weighing the right and interest of the public in 
the protection of the law against the handicaps which responde.nt 
claims it encountered as a result of the conduct of this proceeding, 
we do not believe that respondent's rights to prepare its defense 
and prese.nt its evidence were so irreparably c1:ippled by the recited 
events as to require us to remand this case ·with all of the attendant 
delay and fading of memories inevitably involved. 

Accordingly, we deny respondenes claims of unfairness and due 
process violations in the proceedings of this case. 

IV. 

THE SCOPE AND NECESSITY J'OR AN ORDE'R 

Respondent contends that no order should be entered here because 
the practices found to have violnted the la,v have nmv been aba11doned 
by respondent (Res. App. Br. 33). The examiner made no specific 
findings of :fact on the issue of abandonment. Rather, he concluded 
that the proceedings were in the public interest and that an order 
was necessary (ID 29) . 20 

,v]1ether or not abandonment is a defense sufficient to nrnndate 
dismissal of a complaint depends entirely on the timing and the cir­
cumstances surrounding the abandonment. Eugene D£etz.r;en v. FTC, 
142 F. 2d 321,330 (7th Cir.1944). It has long been the rule that mere 
discontinuance of the practice by itself is not enough to ,varrant 
automatic dismissal. FTC v. Goodyear Tire & Rubbe1· Oo., 304 U.S. 
257, 260 (1938). The standards the courts have established look to a 
spontaneous and voluntary cessation of some duration prior to the 
complaint. 

An examination of the facts in this case show cessation of ques­
tionable business practices only under the pressure of law enforcement 
proceedings. 

The Commission began its investigation into the practices of Stand­
ard Educators in the spring of 1967 (Tr. 10). The evidence presented 
at the trial dealt with alleged sales techniques and contract forms in 
use up until at least May 1968 (Res. App. Br. 37). It is respondent's 
own admission that no -attempt was made to revise the offending 
contract forms until after the Commission ha.cl begun its investiga­
tion in 1967, and that, in fact, changes were not implemented until 
late 19-68 and early 1969 (Res. App. Br. 37). 

20 Respondent offered e;iclPnce at the hearing on the various steps taken by it to revise 
its practicPs and contracts in oruer to eliminate the deceptions involved in the case (Tr. 
380-84,427-28,430). 
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Respondent's business is one of a long-standing and continuing 
nature.. There is no evidence in the record that respondent intends 
to change its manner of doing business in the future, i.e., via door-to­
door sales of encyclopedias. Therefore, unlike many of the cases cited 
by respondent in its brief, its behavior in the complained of instances 
is not an unusual circumstance tmlikely to reoccur. Nor is there any 
evidence of a new management as in some of •the cases relied upon by 
respondent which would disassociate the corporation from past prac­
tices. The record is, however, replete ,vith evidence that respondent's 
method o:f business was only discontinued upon pressure from law 
enforcement officers. This is clearly not "-abandonment" sufficient to 
obviate the necessity for a Commission order. 

vVe agree Vlith the examiner's conclusion that an order must be 
entered here in order to insure that the public interest will be ade­
quately protected against a resumption of these practices. 

Finally, respondent objects to one provision in the oider entered 
by the hearing examiner requiring a three-day "cooling-off" period 
for all of respondent's contracts. Under the examiner's proposed order, 
the prospective customer is to be advised of his unqualified right to 
cancel and, in addition; js to be provjded with a separate canceflation 
form (ID 34) .21 

Responcle.nt contends that the record in .this case "and subsequent 
developments at the Commission" demonstrate that there is no need 
for such -a separate cancellation form (Res. App. Br. 38). The "sub­
sequent developments" referred to are the announcement by the Com­
mission of public hearings to be ·held to determine the necessity for 
a trade regulation rule which would require a three-day cooling-off 
period for all contracts entered into as a result of door-to-door sales. 
Respondent arg·ues that the order provision to ,vhich it ,is objecting 
should not be imposed upon the respondent alone, while the re.st of 
the 'industry waits ·for the results, if any, of the hearings on the trade 
reg-ulation rule (Res. App. Br. 41). 

In our view, respondent's argument is without merit. Respondent 
would have the Commission, in effect, place a moratorium on its use 
of the three-day cooling-off period as a remedy in adjudicative pro­
ceedings. However, the proposed rule-making cannot· be construed 
as a limitation on the Commission's ability t.o order effective relief 

21 The order provision requires respondent : 
[T)o provide a separate and clearly understandable form which the buyer may use as 

a notice of cancellat\on. 
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in individual cases. As the Commission pointed out in Permanente 
Oeinent Co., 65 F.T.C. 410, 494 (19G4) : 

In the interim between the institution of a Trade Regulation Rule proceed­
ing and the actual promulgation of any Trade Regulation Rules, the Commis­
sion, if it is to enforce the statutes ,vithin its jurisdiction, may ue obliged to rely 
on the case~l.Jy-case adjudicative method. Commencement of a rule-making 
proceeding is not tantamount to declaring a morwtorium on all enforcement 
activities with respect to transactions consummated before the effective date 
of the rules. 

The deceptive practices found to exist in the instant case clearly 
call for the imposition of a three-day cooling-off period, and we believe 
the proposed rule-making in this area in no way impairs .the Commis­
sion's authority to order such a remedy to assure the cessation of these 
practices. 

IN THE MATTER OF 

THE CREDIT BUREAU, INC. OF ·wASHINGTON, D.C., 
ETAL. 

CONSEN'l' ORDER, ETC., IN REGAP.D TO THE ALLEGED VIOLA'flON OF THE 

:FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT 

Docket 0-2113. Oompla·int, Dec. "I, 19"11-DeC'is·ion, Dec. "I, 19"11 

Consent order requiring a credit reporting service of Washington, D.C., which 
includes the operation of a new resident information-reporting service under 
the franchised name of Welcome Newcomer, to cease securing personal and 
financial information from new area residents through sul.Jterfuge and 
selling it without their knowledge. 

COMPLAINT 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 
and by virtue of the authority vested in it by said Act, the Federal 
Trade Commission, having reason to believe that The Credit Bureau, 
Inc. of ...Washington, D.C., a corporation, and Edward F. Garretson, 
individually, and as manager of The Credit Bureau, Inc. of ·washing­
ton, D.C., here-inafter referred to as respondents, have violated tho 
provisions of said Act, and it appearing to the Commission that a 
proceeding by it in respect thereof would be in the public interest, 
hereby issues its complaint stating its charges in that respect as 
follows: 

PARAGRAPH 1. Respondent The Credit Bureau, Inc. of Washington, 
D.C. is a corporation organized, existing and doing business under 
and by virtue of the laws of the State of Georgia, with its principal 

470-883:............73--59 




